Comparative Transcriptomics and Genetic Analyses in Animal Parasitic Nematodes

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

> vorgelegt von Tegegn Gudeta Jaleta

aus Sire, Wollega, Äthiopien

Tübingen 2016

Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation: 19/12/2016

| Dekan: | Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Rosenstiel |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|
| 1. Berichterstatter: | PD Dr. Adrian Streit |
| 2. Berichterstatter: | Prof. Dr. Peter Kremsner |

Table of Contents

| Summary | viii |
|---|---------------|
| Zusammenfassung | ix |
| 1. Introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 Parasitism in the phylum Nematoda | 1 |
| 1.2 The genus Strongyloides | 4 |
| 1.2.1 Taxonomy | 4 |
| 1.2.2 Morphology | 6 |
| 1.2.3 Life cycle and reproduction | 6 |
| 1.2.4 Sex determination and Karyotype | 8 |
| 1.2.5 Genomes and transcriptomes | 9 |
| 1.2.6 Genetic tools | 10 |
| 1.2.6.1 Transgenesis | 11 |
| 1.2.6.2 CRISPR-Cas9 | 12 |
| 1.2.6.3 RNA Interference | 12 |
| 1.2.7 Strongyloidiasis in humans | 14 |
| 1.2.8 Strongyloides infections in animals | 18 |
| 1.2.8.1 Strongyloides ratti | 18 |
| 1.2.8.2 Strongyloides papillosus | 19 |
| 1.3 The genus Onchocerca | 21 |
| 1.3.1 Onchocerca ochengi and O. volvulus | 21 |
| 1.4 Aims of this thesis | 23 |
| 2. Results and Discussion | 25 |
| 2.1 Parasitological and transcriptomic comparison of <i>S. ratti</i> infections in ragerbil hosts | t and 25 |
| 2.1.1 S. ratti infections: duration, worm output, sex ratios and worm burde | ens 25 |
| 2.1.2 Transcriptomes of parasitic S. ratti adults isolated from rats and ger | rbils 29 |
| 2.1.3 Contributions | 33 |
| 2.2 Comparative transcriptomics analyses of different developmental stages papillosus | s of S. 34 |
| 2.2.1 Overview of the differentially expressed genes | 34 |
| 2.2.2 Expressions of Astacin and CAP gene family members | 40 |
| 2.2.3 Contributions | 46 |

| 2.3 Genetic diversity and reproduction in the human parasitic nematode Strongyloides stercoralis | 47 |
|---|-----|
| 2.3.1 Different genotypes of <i>S. stercoralis</i> isolated from humans and dogs | 47 |
| 2.3.2 Different mitochondrial <i>cox</i> 1 haplotypes of <i>S. stercoralis</i> isolated from humans and dogs | 49 |
| 2.3.3 Reproduction infree-living generation of a laboratory isolate of <i>S.</i> stercoralis | 53 |
| 2.3.4 Contributions | 55 |
| 2.4 Genetic and phylogenetic analyses of <i>O. ochengi</i> isolates using complete mitochondrial genome sequences | 56 |
| 2.4.1 Mitochondrial genome size, content and organization | 56 |
| 2.4.2 Sequence comparsion of mitochoderial genes | 62 |
| 2.4.3 Phylogenetic analysis | 63 |
| 2.4.4 Contributions | 65 |
| 3. Materials and Methods | 66 |
| 3.1 Culture and isolation of the parasites | 66 |
| 3.1.1 Strongyloides ratti | 66 |
| 3.1.2 Strongyloides papillosus | 67 |
| 3.1.3 Strongyloides stercoralis | 68 |
| 3.1.4 Onchocerca ochengi isolation | 69 |
| 3.2 RNA isolations and RNA-Seq library preparation | 69 |
| 3.3 DNA isolation and DNA-Seq libraries preparations | 70 |
| 3.4 Molecular genotyping of <i>S. stercoralis</i> single larvae | 70 |
| 3.5 Crossing free-living stages of S. stercoralis | 72 |
| 3.6 Data and sequences analyses | 73 |
| 3.6.1 Strongyloides ratti infections and transcriptomics | 73 |
| 3.6.2 Strongyloides papillosus transcriptomics | 73 |
| 3.6.3 Onchocerca ochengi mitochondrial genome analyses | 74 |
| 3.6.4 Strongyloides stercoralis single worm sequence analyses | 75 |
| 3.6.5 Phylogenetic analyses | 75 |
| 3.6.5.1 Strongyloides papillosus gene family trees | 75 |
| 3.6.5.2 Strongyloides stercoralis cox1 tree | 75 |
| 3.6.5.3 Onchocerca ochengi mitochondrial genes tree | 76 |
| 4. Bibliography | 77 |
| Appendix | 106 |
| Lebenslauf/Curriculum vitae | 109 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. Phylogenetic relationships between nematodes based on SSU sequence3 |
|---|
| Figure 2. The molecular phylogenetic relationship between <i>Strongyloides</i> spp. and their hosts5 |
| Figure 3. Generalized life cycle of <i>Strongyloides</i> spp8 |
| Figure 4. Schematic representation of <i>Strongyloides</i> and <i>Parastrongyloides</i> male and female karyotypes9 |
| Figure 5. Schematic representation of the exo-RNAi pathway in C. Elegans13 |
| Figure 6. Nightly mean total worm count per host individual from rats and gerbils infected with 500 iL3 per animal |
| Figure 7. Total male to female ratios of worms collected from rats and gerbils feces cultured at 19°C and 22°C |
| Figure 8. Mean number of parasitic worms isolated from sacrificed rats and gerbils |
| Figure 9. Correlation of the different parasitic adults RNA-Seq experiments30 |
| Figure 10. Principal component analysis of <i>S. papillosus</i> different stages transcriptomes replcates |
| Figure 11. Numbers of significantly differentially expressed genes between different developmental stages of <i>S. papillosus</i> transcriptomes |
| Figure 12. Pairwise comparison of <i>S. papillosus</i> transcriptome based on their expressions |
| Figure 13. Gene expression, sequence evolution and phylogenetic tree of <i>S. papillosus</i> and <i>S. ratti</i> NGIC gene family |
| Figure 14. Age classification and domain enrichement of the S. papillosus transcriptomes |
| Figure 15. The expression values of different developmental satages <i>S. papillosus</i> CAP gene family42 |
| Figure 16. Phylogenetic tree and expression patterns of different developmental stages of <i>S. papillosus</i> CAP genes43 |
| Figure 17. Phylogenetic tree and expression patterns of Astacin genes from different developmental stages of <i>S. papillsosu</i> s44 |
| Figure 18. The expression values of <i>S. papillosus</i> different developmental stages Astacin genes families45 |
| Figure 19. Nucleotide sequence of <i>S. stercoralis</i> 18S rDNA HVR-IV isolated from humans and dogs47 |
| Figure 20. Maximum-likelihood reconstruction of phylogenetic tree based on partial sequence of cox1 <i>S. stercoralis</i> isolated from humans and dogs |
| Figure 21. The mitochondrial genome of <i>O. ochengi</i> |

List of Tables

Table 1. Expression values and comparison for all differentially expressed S. ratti Table 2. S. stercoralis larvae SSU HVR-I and HVR-IV genotypes from humans and Table 3. Pairwise nucleotide diversity between different S. stercoralis cox1 haplotypes from humans and dogs......51 Table 4. Corellation between S. stercoralis SSU genotypes and cox1 haplotypes isolated from humans and dogs......51 Table 5. Genotypes of S. stercoralis free-living parents and their progenies using *ytP274* as a molecular genetic marker......54 Table 6. Positions and nucleotide sequence lengths of mitochondrial genes in O. Table 7. Codon usages of the 12 protein-coding genes in the mitochondrial genome Table 8. Nucleotide compositions, snps and pairwise nucleotide differences in the whole mitochondrial genome of O. ochengi......61 Table 9. Pairwise nucleotides diversity between the 12 protein coding mitochonderial genes of Onchocerca spp......63

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Adrian Streit for giving me this PhD opportunity and for his guidance, support, supervisions and for proof reading this thesis. I am very thankful to Prof. Dr. Ralf J. Sommer, for his support, suggestions and advice throughtout my PhD study. Thanks also to my co-supervisor Prof. Dr. Peter Kremsner at Tropical Instituite of Tropical Medicine of University of Tübingen for taking his time to evaluate this thesis.

I would also like to thank Max Planck Gesellschaft for providing me stipendium and funding my PhD projects. I am very grateful to Dr. Christian Rödelsperger and Praveen Baskaran for their help in bioinformatic analyses. I would like to thank all my collaborators: Pro. Dr. Peter Odermatt (Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute), Prof. Dr. James Lok (University of Pennsylvania) and Dr. Alfons Renz (University of Tübingen) for their wonderful support and and giving me the chance to be a part of thier exciting projects. I owe a debt gratitude to people in Rovieng district, Cambodia who participated in *S. stercoralis* project.

I would like to thank Dorothee Harbecke for her technical assistance. I am grateful to Dr. Arpita Kulkarni and Dr. Vahan Serobyan for their discussions, advice, support and encouragements. I am grateful to Streit group member: Alex Dulovic, Anja Holz and Siyu Zhou for their discussions and suggestions in the lab and during group meetings and also special thank to Alex Dulovic for proof reading this thesis.

Many thanks to my partner Anne Pfleiderer for her care, love, support, encouragement, patience, and for transilating summary of this thesis to German. Last, but not least I would like to thank my parents; my mother and father for their continous care, advice and encouragement.

vii

Summary

Animal parasitic nematodes cause a wide range of diseases in humans and animals. Most *Strongyloides* and *Onchocerca* species are highly host specific, being restricted to one or a few species, but a few of them have a broader host range (eg. *S. stercoralis*). If a parasitic nematode species can infect multiple hosts, the infection efficiency and dynamics, reproductive success and the gene expression patterns may vary depending on the host. Also within the species, different genotypes that are specialized for a particular host may exist.

In this thesis I: 1) compared the infection dynamics and the transcriptomes of *S. ratti* in its natural host rat and in the sub-optimal host gerbil; 2) analyzed the transcriptomes of different developmental stages of *S. papillosus*; 3) investigated the population structure of *S. stercoralis* from humans and dogs in rural Cambodia and 4) compared the genetic variation in the whole mitochondrial genomes of the *O. ochengi* population in northern Cameroon.

To 1) I show that the infection success of *S. ratti* in gerbils is lower than in rats, but those worms that are successful, survive and reproduce much longer compared with *S. ratti* in rats. They produce a very high percentage of male progeny. The gene expression patterns are very similar in both hosts. Hence, gerbils are good laboratory hosts for the long-term maintenance of *S. ratti*.

To 2) I report a comparative analysis of the transcriptomes of six developmental stages of *S. papillosus*. Different members of Astacin and CAP gene families, which are strongly expanded in *Strongyloides* spp., are specifically up-regulated particularly in parasitic adults and infective larvae suggesting biologic importance of these gene families for the parasitic life cycle of this organism.

To 3) Using the nuclear 18S rDNA locus and mitochondrial markers, I demonstrate the existence of multiple genotypes among *S. stercoralis* isolated from humans and dogs in rural Cambodia. Whilst some make up the vast majority of *Strongyloides* spp. in dogs and are specific for this host, others are predominant in humans but also occur in dogs. This illustrates the possibility of zoonotic transmission of this parasite. I never found hybrids between the different 18S genotypes. This indicates either that intermixing only occurs within the same 18S genotypes, and as a result *S. stercoralis* represents a species complex of closely related species, or that these worms reproduce only asexually, as it had been proposed for *Strongyloides* spp. by some authors (but disproven for *S. ratti* and *S. papillosus*). I provide preliminary evidence that at least the laboratory isolate of *S. stercoralis* is capable of sexual reproduction.

To 4) I present the complete mitochondrial genome sequences of eleven different individuals of *Onchocerca ochengi*, a filarial nematode of cattle. I confirm the existence of two *O. ochengi* mitochondrial clades at the whole genome level and resolve the mitochondrial phylogeny of the two *O. ochengi* clades and the very closely related human pathogen *O. volvulus*.

Zusammenfassung

Tier-parasitäre Nematoden verursachen eine große Bandbreite an Erkrankungen in Menschen und Tieren. Viele *Strongyloides* und *Onchocerca* Arten sind hoch Wirtspezifisch und damit auf eine oder wenige Arten von Wirten beschränkt. Bei anderen Arten ist das Wirtsspektrum breiter (z.B. *S. stercoralis*). Wenn eine Art verschiedene Wirte infizieren kann, können Effizienz und Dynamik der Infektion, der Reproduktionserfolg und das Genexpressionsmuster vom Wirt abhängig sehr unterschiedlich sein. Innerhalb der Arten können verschiedene Genotypen existieren, welche auf betimmte Wirte spezialisiert sind.

In dieser Doktorarbeit habe ich 1) die Effizienz und die Dynamik der Infektion sowie die Transkriptome von *S. ratti* in dessen natürlichem Wirt Ratte mit denen im suboptimalen Wirt Wüstenrennmaus verglichen; 2) die Transkriptome von verschiedenen Entwicklungsstadien von *S. papillosus* analysiert; 3) die Populationsstruktur von *S. stercoralis* aus Menschen und Hunden im ländlichen Kambodscha untersucht und 4) die genetischen Variationen im mitochondrialen Genom von *O. ochengi* im nördlichen Kamerun untersucht.

Zu 1) zeige ich, dass der Infektionserfolg von *S. ratti* in Wüstenrennmäusen niedriger ist als in Ratten aber dass die Würmer, die in Wüstenrennmäusen Erfolg haben, viel länger überleben und reproduzieren als *S. ratti* in Ratten. Sie produzieren einen hohen Anteil an männlichen Nachkommen. Die Genexpressionsmuster sind in beiden Wirten sehr ähnlich. Somit sind Wüstenrennmäuse gute Wirte für eine langzeitige Erhaltung von *S. ratti* für Labore.

Zu 2) lege ich eine vergleichende Analyse der Transkriptome von sechs Entwicklungsstadien von *S. papillosus* vor. Aus den bei *Strongyloides* spp. sehr verbreiteten Gen-Familie Astacin und CAP sind manche Gene spezifisch in parasitären adulten Würmern oder infektiösen Larven hochreguliert. Dies legt nahe, dass diese Genfamilien eine biologisch wichtige Rolle für den parasitären Lebenszyklus dieser Organismen spielen.

Zu 3) zeige ich mit dem nukleären 18S rDNA Lokus und mitochondrialen Makern, dass in Menschen und in Hunden im ländlichen Kambodscha mehrere *S. stercoralis* Genotypen vorkommen. Während manche die große Mehrheit von *Strongyloids* spp. in Hunden ausmachen und für diesen Wirt spezifisch sind, kommen andere überwiegend in Menschen, aber auch in Hunden, vor. Dies legt die Möglichkeit von zoonotischer Übertragung dieses Parasiten nahe. In dieser Studie wurden keine Hybride zwischen den verschiedenen 18S Genotypen gefunden. Das bedeutet, dass Kreuzung entweder nur innerhalb eines 18S Genotypen stattfindet und *S. stercoralis* damit ein aus nah verwandten Arten bestehender Artenkomplex ist, oder dass sich diese Würmer nur asexuell vermehren. Letzteres wurde von älteren Autoren für *Strongyloides spp.* postuliert aber später für *S. ratti* und *S. stercoralis* fähig zur sexuellen Reproduktion ist.

Zu 4) vergleiche ich die kompletten mitochondrialen Genom Sequenzen von elf verschiedenen Individuen von *Onchocerca ochengi*, einer Filarie in Rindern. Ich bestätige, gestützt auf das vollständige Genom, die Existenz von zwei mitochondriellen Kladen innerhalb der Art und ich charakterisiere die phylogenetische Verwandtschaft zwischen den beiden *O. ochengi* Varianten und dem sehr nah verwandten human pathogenen *O. volvulus*.

1. Introduction

1.1 Parasitism in the phylum Nematoda

Nematodes commonly known as roundworms are the largest phylum in animal kingdom [1]. Nematodes live in a variety of environments such as marine or fresh water, every type of soil, both the polar and the tropical regions, as well as in the highest and lowest elevations either as free-living individuals or in plants, animals and humans as a parasites [2][3]. Many nematode species are free-living in nature and play an important role in the decomposition process, aid in recycling of nutrients in marine environments, and are sensitive to changes in the environment caused by pollution [2][3][4]. They also effectively regulate bacterial populations and community composition, for instance they may eat up to 5,000 bacteria per minute [3]. For example, Caenorhabditis elegans (C. elegans) is a free-living nematode model organism for studying development, aging and some aspects of proteins involved in human diseases [5] as 40% of genes known to be associated with human diseases have clear orthologs in the C. elegans genome [6]. The phylum Nematoda consists of more than 1 million species, of which only about 25,000 species have been described so far, more than half of which are parasitic nematodes [2]. Phylogenetically, the phylum Nematoda has been classified into five clades, each clade containing at least one parasitic species [7], suggesting that parasitism has arisen multiple times throughout evolution [7][8][9]. The exact mechanism by which nematodes developed the parasitic life histories is not clear [8][9][10][11]. A phylogenetic relationship between nematodes and their evolution of parasitism is presented in Figure 1 below.

Many parasites are highly host specific, being restricted to one or a few species of hosts [12]. Host specificity can evolve through either through long-term associations of hosts and parasites, persisting through speciation events that can restrict sister parasite lineages to sister host lineages, or alternatively a parasite lineage that is initially capable of utilizing several species of hosts

may become restricted to a subset of them [12]. This could happen when a parasite population inhabits a geographically isolated area where some potential hosts are absent or due to a genetically based loss of ability to parasitize certain species that formerly served as hosts even when they are present [12]. Lateral transfers of parasites across host lineages could involve an expansion of host range, allowing colonization of a new host, and then loss of ability to use the ancestral host [13].

As far as the parasitic nematodes of interest for this thesis are concerned, Strongyloides spp. are considered to be rather host specific (naturally infect one or very few specific hosts), but some species like Strongyloides stercoralis (S. stercoralis) and Strongyloides fuelleborni (S. fuelleborni) are known to infect a wider range of vertebrate hosts [14][15][16][17]. Also artificial infections of suboptimal non-natural hosts with some Strongyloides spp. have been reported (for example: Strongyloides ratti (S. ratti) in mice and gerbil [18][19], Strongyloides papillosus (S. papillosus) in rabbit [20]; Strongyloides venezuelensis (S. venezuelensis) [21] and S. stercoralis in gerbil [22]). Also in the genus Onchocerca most species appear host specific [23]. This species provides an example for a recent speciattions even assotiated with a host switch. It has been hypothesized that O. volvulus and O. ochengi evolved from a common ancestor after humans acquired this infection from their cows upon cattle domestication in Africa about 10,000 years ago [24]. This host switching might have been followed by fusion of two chromosomes in O. volvulus. O. ochengi has 2n=5 chromosomes, where as O. volvulus has 2n=4 [25]. O. ochengi infection in cattle has no pathology, where as O. volvulus cause serious eye (river blindness) and skin diseases [26]. This might be due to long term of co-evolution and adaptation to each otherr of cattle and O. ochengi [27], where as O. volvulus infection in humans is much more recent and has therefore a more pronounced pathological effect on the host [24].



Figure 1. Phylogenetic relationships between nematodes based on SSU sequences (adapted from [7]).

Parasitic nematodes cause a wide range of diseases in humans, animals and plants [28]. In domestic and wild animals, parasitic nematode infections reduce the productivity and affect general welfare [29]. The economic importance of parasitic nematodes is enormous [30]. Plant parasitic nematodes infect most cultivated plant species and cause crop production losses, thereby exacerbating global food shortages [10]. Global total annual yield losses caused by plant parasitic nematodes are estimated to be greater than US\$ 125 billion [31].

Nematode infections in humans lead to serious health problems causing substantial suffering, especially in children [32][33]. Globally, more than 2.9 billion people are infected by parasitic nematodes that can impair physical and

educational development in children [34] often resulting in significant morbidity and mortality [35]. The infectious forms of many human parasitic nematodes are developmentally arrested third-stage larvae (iL3s), which reside in soil, from which the designation soil transmitted helminthes (STH) originated [35]. The most common STH in humans are hookworm disease (Necator americanus and Ancylostoma duodenale), ascariasis (Ascaris lumbricoides), trichuriasis (Trichuris trichiura), lymphatic filariasis (Wuchereria bancrofti and Brugia malayi), onchocerciasis (Onchocerca volvulus), and strongyloidiasis (S. stercoralis). These are reported to infect between 576-740, 807-1221, 604-795, 120, 37 and 30-100 million people worldwide respectively [35][36]. Strongyloidiasis caused by S. stercoralis and S. fuelleborni causes serious health problems in humans [37], dogs and non-human primates [16][17] [38][39]. In domestic animals, S. papillosus, S. ransomi and S. westeri [40] are the most important parasite of sheep, pigs and horses that cause serious disease in nursing lambs, piglets and foals respectively. During my PhD studies, I have conducted comparative transcriptomics and genetic analyses in S. ratti, S. papillosus, S. stercoralis and Onchocerca ochengi. Below, I provide basic information on the taxonomy, biology, disease, genomics and genetic tools in these species.

1.2 The genus Strongyloides

1.2.1 Taxonomy

The genus *Strongyloides* is grouped in the order Rhabditida of clade IV in the phylum Nematoda [7]. This genus contains more than 50 described species that are obligate gastrointestinal parasites of vertebrate hosts ranging from mammals and birds to reptiles and amphibians [40]. In the wild or in natural infections, hosts become infected when iL3s penetrate the skin [37]. Artificial infections can be achieved by bringing the iL3s close to the host skin or by subcutaneous injection in the laboratory [41]. The *Strongloides* iL3s are considered homologous to *C. elegans* dauers that are developmentally arrested larvae that can live in the external environment for more than 2 weeks [42].

Taxonomic classifications of Strongyloides spp. are mainly based on molecular phylogeny [40] due to the fact that different species are often very similar morphologically and cannot be identified solely on this criterion. Recently Hino et al. [43] reported a very informative phylogenetic tree for the most important Strongyloides spp. using the full length sequence of the 18S rDNA. Humans can be infected with S. stercoralis and S. fuelloborni, which are phylogenetically distant from each other [40][43]. Rats can be infected with S. ratti and S. venezuelensis, which are also far apart from each other on this tree [43]. Phylogenetically, S. ratti and S. stercoralis are very close to each other [40][43]. S. papillosus, a parasite of sheep is phylogenetically very close to S. fuelleborni and to S. venezuelensis [43]. These examples illustrate that in Strongyloides spp., the phylogenetic relationships of the parasites and of their respective host species do not correlate, suggesting that host switching was fairly common during the evolution of the genus Strongyloides [40][43]. The phylogenetic relationship between different Strongyloides spp. and their respective hosts they infect are given in Figure 2 below.





1.2.2 Morphology

There are clear morphological differences between different developmental stages and sexes of Strongyloides spp. [44]. The parasitic females are approximately 2-10 mm in length, depending on the species, with either bluntended or pointed tails (this is used for species morphological identification) and an elongated filariform esophagus [37][43][44][45]. The ovary is didelphic and opens at the vulva, that is positioned ventrally approximately two thirds along the body length [37][43][44]. The parasitic female of the genus Strongyloides contains no male gonads and, with the exception of two reports in the early 1930s which were later contested, the existence of parasitic males is not yet reported [43][44][45][46]. The free-living female is 0.64-1.7 mm in length, with didelphic ovaries and a vulva at the mid-point of the body [37][44][45][46]. The free-living male is 0.7-1 mm in length, with a short and conical tail consisting of 1 or 2 pairs of per-anal and 1 or 2 pairs of post-anal papillae, the spicules and the gubernaculums [37][45][46]. Both sexes in freeliving stages have a rhabditiform esophagus. The length of the L1 is about 0.18-0.3 mm, whilst the L2 is about 0.25-0.54 mm [37][45][46]. The iL3 is approximately 0.4-0.63 mm in length and radially constricted, with a filariform esophagus approximately half the length of the larva and tripartite pointed tail that looks like a simple fork [37][44]. Morphological features useful for identification of Strongyloides spp. include the angle of vulval rotation, the presence or absence of post-vulva narrowing in adult free-living females, the natures of the tip and ventral membrane of the spicules, and the locations of the perianal papillae in adult free-living males. In parasitic females, the shape of the stoma in apical view, presence or absence of spiralling ovaries, the shape of the tail and the number of lobes on the circumoral elevation can be used for identification [37][47].

1.2.3 Life cycle and reproduction

Strongyloides spp. have unique and complicated life cycles compared to some other gastrointestinal nematodes and alternate between free-living and parasitic generations [44][48]. The hosts are infected when iL3 larvae penetrate the skin (in experiemental infections, the iL3 are frequently subcutaneously injected) [37]. These larvae migrate through the host body and 24 hours after infection they reach at the lungs or the naso-frontal region (depending on the species) of the host, where they will be swallowed to reach the small intestine [41]. During this migration they moult to L4 stages and then to adult parasitic females [41]. The parasitic adults are all females and live in the mucosa of the small intestine of the host [37][45].

The parasitic adult females reproduce by mitotic parthenogenesis (asexual reproduction) [45][49]. From six days after infection, eggs and/or first stage larvae (L1) will appear in the host feces depending on the species [41]. The female L1s can have alternative developmental fates [45][50]. Either they develop via L2-L4 stages into rhabditiform free-living adult worms, as do all the males. This type of development is known as indirect, sexual or heterogonic development [45][51]. The free-living males and females undergo sexual reproduction by mating [45][51] and all their progenies develop to female iL3s that can live in the environment (soil) until they encounter a suitable host, where the iL3s penetrate the host skin to initiate the parasitic cycle [37]. Pseudogamy (sperm dependent parthenogenesis) has been proposed as mode of reproduction of free-living generations of Strongyloides spp. For S. ratti and S. papillosus, it has been confirmed by crossing experiments and molecular genotyping that the free-living generations of these species actually reproduce sexually [45][51]. It is crucial to investigate the mode of reproduction in the free-living generations of the medically important S. stercoralis, both in laboratory and wild populations.

Alternatively, the female progenies of parasitic adults that pass with host feces can develop directly to iL3s. This kind of development is called direct or homogonic development or clonal or asexual reproduction [45][51]. As a medically important particuliarity, *S. stercoralis* but not the other species of *Strongyloides* investigated, has an auto infective cycle in which larvae develop into iL3s within the host. This allows the parasite to re-infect the same host individual. Therefore, *S. stercoralis* infections may persist for much longer than the life duration of an individual parasitic worm, even in the

absence of new infection [37][52][53][54]. These unique alternating life cycles provide opportunity to apply available genetic and molecular tools for better understanding of the basic biology and evolution of parasitism in *Strongyloides* [48]. The generalized life cycle of *Strongyloides* spp. is given in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3. Generalized life cycle of *Strongyloides* spp. (modified from [55]). The autoinfective cycle (in red) is specific for *S. stercoralis*. The developmental stage that leaves the host varies between species.

1.2.4 Sex determination and Karyotype

Many species of *Strongyloides* and *Parastrongyloides trichosuri* have an XX/XO sex determination mechanisms suggesting that XX/XO sex determination system is ancestral [56]. In *S. ratti* and *S. stercoralis* both sexes have two pairs of autosomes, and the females have two but the males have only one X chromosome [50][58]. So in these species females have 2n=6 and males have 2n=5 [50]. In *S. papillosus* and *S. vituli*, the I and X chromosome are fused [56][59][60] and sex-specific chromatin diminution in males result in the formation a hemizygous region corresponding to the X chromosome in *S. ratti* [50][56][58][59]. The males have 2n=5 and the females have 2n=4

[56][59]. However, the chromosomal differences between the sexes are not the primary sex determining factors, but sex determination in *Strongylodes* spp. also depend on environmental factors such as the host immune status [61]. Increased immune response of the host against the worms leads to a higher proportion of males [61]. A schematic representation of the chromosomes of the *Strongyloides* spp. discussed here is presented in Figure 4 below.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of *Strongyloides* and *Parastrongyloides* male and female karyotypes. Chromosomes/genomic regions present two copies in both sexes are depicted blue; chromosomes/genomic regions present in two copies in females and only in one copy in males are depicted in red (adapted and modified from [56]).

1.2.5 Genomes and transcriptomes

Whole genome and transcriptome sequencing of nematodes is becoming common and easy with the fast growing and improving next generation sequencing technologies [62][63][64][65][66]. *S. ratti* has the second most assembled and annotated nematode genome after the *C. elegans* reference genome, with a high-quality 43 Mb reference genome with the two autosomes [59] assembled into single scaffolds and the X chromosome [59] assembled into ten scaffolds [11][59]. High-quality draft assemblies ranging from 42 to 60 Mb were also released for *S. stercoralis*, *S. venezuelensis* and *S. papillosus* [11]. The *Strongloides* genomes (~43 Mb) are small compared to the

genomes of *C. elegans* (100 Mb) [67] and *P. pacificus* (169 Mb) [68]. The *S. ratti* and *S. stercoralis* genomes have GC contents of 21% and 22%, respectively, that make these species the most AT rich nematode genome reported so far [11]. The total protein-coding content of *S. ratti and S. stercoralis* ranges between 18–22 Mb [11]. The predicted numbers of genes for *S. ratti, S stercoralis, S. papillosus* and *S. venezuelensis* are 12,451, 13,098, 18,457 and 16,904 respectively [11].

Very little is known of the spatial and temporal regulation of parasitic nematode genes. Knowledge of expression pattern of these genes will help to understand their biological functions. Microarray and transcriptomic studies of Strongyloides began with analyses of Expressed Sequence Tags (EST) from different developmental stages of S. stercoralis and S. ratti [69][70]. These analyses resulted in the generation of about 11,000 and 15,000 ESTs that were grouped into 3,311 and 4,152 clusters in S. stercoralis and S. ratti respectively. Transcriptome analyses of different developmental stages of S. ratti and S. stercoralis identified genes possibly important in parasitism [11] [70]. Recently Nagayasu et al. [72] reported robust transcriptome analyses in four developmental stages of S. venezuelensis. O'Meara et al. [64] reported relatively stable gene expression in S. ratti parasitic adult transcriptome raised in rats with different immunological status. In S. stercoralis, transcriptome analyses were mainly performed in iL3s, to identify potential candidate genes for drug targets [63][73][74]. With rapidly improving genomic and transcriptomic sequencing technologies becoming available, more effort can now be put on assembly and complete annotation of the genomes of Strongyloides spp., to identify and characterize genes involved in development and parasitism.

1.2.6 Genetic tools

Unlike for *C. elegans*, there is a lack of robust functional genomic and genetic tools for most of the parasitic nematodes, which severely limits functional studies in these organisms [44]. However, there are some promising progress

being made in the area of transgenesis [75], CRISPR-Cas9 [76] and RNA interference [77].

1.2.6.1 Transgenesis

Transgenesis is the process of introducing an exogenous gene called a transgene into the germ line of an organism so that a new property will be transmitted to its offspring [78]. It is an essential tool for studying gene function and is used to search and validate essential molecular targets, for new drugs and vaccines in disease causing agents especially parasitic nematodes [78][79][80]. The access to free-living females and its morphological similarities to *C. elegans,* have helped to adapt gonadal microinjections as a method for gene transfer in *Strongyloides* spp. [81]. The wealth of genome sequence data available could be used to identify promoter regions and regulatory motifs, and to construct promoter reporter constructs to examine expression patterns of major genes, that may play significant roles in the parasitic life cycle of *Strongyloides* spp. [80].

In *Strongyloides* spp., transgenesis was first developed for *S. stercoralis* [75] [81]. The same protocols and promoter constructs from *S. stercoralis* were also used in *S. ratti* transgenesis [82], however with considerably lower transformation efficiency. Initial attempts to establish stable lines of transgenic *S. stercoralis* and *S. ratti* by following standard *C. elegans* protocols for the injection of plasmid-constructs failed. Although transgenes were established, they were not expressed from the second generation onward [79][82]. This may be due to transcriptional silencing in the multi-copy episomal arrays [82]. Shao et al. [79] solved this issue by creating constructs consisting of regulatory elements of the piggyBac transposon system, allowing the creation of the first stable transgenic lines with close to 100% transgene expressions after the second generations. Low germline transformation efficiency and survival rate of injected worms in *S. stercoralis* and *S. ratti* is a bottleneck in transgenesis in these organisms [75][79]. Several successful transgenesis in *S. stercoralis* have been reported [74][83] and these encouraging results will

help scientists to investigate the expression patterns and functions of more genes that play role in development and parasitic life of these nematodes.

1.2.6.2 CRISPR-Cas9

CRISPR-Cas9 is a newly developed genome-editing tool that has a wide range of potential applications [76][84][85]. The CRISPR-Cas9 system is most commonly used to introduce mutations in specific, molecularly defined loci [76][84][85]. The system is derived from a natural type of bacterial adaptive immune system[84], the type 2 short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) system. It involves a bipartite RNA (single guide or sgRNA, which in most experimental approaches replaces the two RNA molecules present in the natural system) that provides sequence specificity by base pairing, which then recruits the endonuclease Cas9 to the recognition site, leading to endonucleolytic cleavage of the DNA. Mutations arise by imperfect repair of the chromosome break. By providing a DNA molecule with the desired sequence as template, it is possible to introduce specific alteration into the genome. In C. elegans and other model nematodes, CRISPR-Cas9 has been successfully used to generate heritable mutations (insertions and/or deletions), by microinjecting DNA or RNA constructs coding for the Cas9 and the guide RNA or a mixture of the two components made in vitro into the gonad of hermaphrodites (which replace females in this species) [76][85][86][87][88][89]. But in parasitic nematodes, successful CRISPR-Cas9 transformation has not yet been reported [48]. However, CRISPR-Cas9 is a promising genetic tool to induce gene knock out to study gene functions in parasitic nematodes [48][90].

1.2.6.3 RNA Interference

RNA interference (RNAi) is a mechanism for RNA guided silencing of gene expression in eukaryotic cells [91]. It can induce both transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene silencing [92]. The natural functions of RNAi and its related processes seem to be protection of the genome against the invasion

of mobile genetic elements (i.e. viruses or transposons), as well as orchestrated functioning of the developmental programs of eukaryotic RNAi, double stranded organisms [92][93][94]. In RNA (dsRNA), complementary to a portion of a gene, is processed into small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) [95][96][97]. This effect is amplified beyond the initiation site within the gene by secondary siRNAs [98][99][100]. The siRNAs bind to the endogenous mRNA, forming a mRNA-siRNA duplex, which results in the recruitment of the RNA interfering specificity complex (RISC); this complex degrades/suppresses the endogenous mRNA [101]. The whole process results in the cessation/reduction of the effective function of the gene, which may result in visible phenotypic defects [102]. A potent gene silencing effect by RNAi was achieved in *C. elegans* by injecting double stranded RNA [95]. In nematodes, dsRNA/siRNA can be delivered by injection [95], soaking [103], feeding [104]. In parasitic nematodes electroporation was also atempted [105][106][107]. A schematic representation of the exo-RNAi pathway in C. elegans is given Figure 5 below.



Figure 5. Schematic representation of the exo-RNAi pathway in *C. elegans* (adapted from [108]).

RNAi in several nematodes is becoming a very important tool to understand and characterize parasitism genes [77]. The first successful RNAi report in gastrointestinal nematode was reported in Nippostrongylus brasiliensis [109]. Following this report, RNAi by soaking in dsRNA was reported for several parasitic nematodes: Brugia malayi, Onchocerca volvulus, Haemonchus Ostertagia ostertagi, Ascaris suum and Trichostrongylus contortus, colubriformis and has resulted in some RNAi mediated knock down [105][106] [110][111][112][113][114]. However, while transcript levels have been reduced for some target genes in parasitic nematodes, using current methods, RNAi seems to be inconsistent with variable results between species and between genes[77][108][115][116]. RNAi in plant parasitic nematodes seems to be more effective compared to animal parasitic nematodes [77][108]. In plant parasitic nematodes, usually the larval stages were soaked in dsRNA together with octopamine and/or serotonin to induce pharyngeal pumping [117], facilitating the ingestion of dsRNA. In animal parasitic nematodes, several difficulties are encountered when attempting RNAi such as reproducibility, specificity and susceptibility issues [118]. When using different siRNA/dsRNA delivery methods, RNAi was not successful for *Strongyloides* spp. and many other parasitic nematodes [119]. These mixed results suggest the importance of optimizing RNAi methods in animal parasitic nematodes to analyze gene functions which could be helpful in identifying candidate genes for drug and vaccine targets [120].

1.2.7 Strongyloidiasis in humans

In humans, strongyloidiasis is caused predominantly by *S. stercoralis*, but to a lesser extent also by *S. fuelleborni and S. fuelleborni kellyi* [37]. *S. stercoralis* infections have also been described in dogs, cats, and non-human primates [14][15][16][17][121]. *S. stercoralis* has a cosmopolitan distribution in tropical and subtropical regions and is the predominant species of *Strongyloides* in humans [36][122]. *S. fuelleborni* infection mainly occurs in African primates but is zoonotic and so infection can be transmitted to humans [15][37]. Human infections with *S. fuelleborni kellyi* has been reported only from New Guinea [123]. Humans become infected when iL3s come in contact with host skin and penetrate it, allowing the establishment of an infection [37].

Strongyloidiasis is one of the most neglected soil transmitted helminthiasis [36][124][125]. It is estimated to infect 100-200 million individuals worldwide [33][124], however this number could be an underestimate as it is often difficult to detect infections in single fecal examination [47]. The prevalence of *S. stercoralis* infections ranges from 5% to 40% in many tropical and subtropical countries [36] with higher prevalence among young individuals and children [44]. Factors such as high temperature, high moisture, poor sanitation and sharing premises with domestic animals may contribute to this high prevalence of *S. stercoralis* in developing countries within the tropical and subtropical regions [36][126].

In healthy individuals, strongyloidiasis is asymptomatic causing very little pathology [37]. However in immunocompromised individuals, it can result in serious complicated disease called hyperinfection syndrome (eventually leading to disseminated strongyloidiasis) due to massive invasion of autoinfective iL3s throughout the body [37][52][127][128]. This special ability to replicate in vivo and re-infect the same host is unique for *S. stercoralis* and infections have been shown to persist for many decades [37][54]. In chronic uncomplicated strongyloidiasis, major symptoms involve the gastrointestinal, respiratory and cutaneous systems. The common gastrointestinal signs are intermittent or persistent diarrhea, abdominal pain, pruritus ani, anorexia, vomiting (nausea), constipation and indigestion [37][129]. Chest pain, coughing and dyspnea are some of the symptoms involved in the respiratory system [37][129]. Skin rash, larva currens and urticarial are the major dermatologic signs from migrating infective larvae in the skin tissue [129].

In severe complicated strongyloidiasis, complication of gastrointestinal, respiratory, central nervous systems result in severe diseases [37]. The major gastrointestinal complications are abdominal distension, intestinal obstruction [130], dilation and thickening of the loops of the jejunum, necrotizing jejunitis, arteriomesenteric occlusion, small bowel infarction, biliary obstruction, aphthoid ulceration of the colon gastrointestinal hemorrhage and anorectitis [37][131][132][133][134][135][136][137]. It has been reported that some pulmonary complications like irritative or productive cough and shortness of breath, are often associated with wheezing that might lead to fatal adult

respiratory distress syndrome [138][139]. Invasion of the central nervous system by migrating larvae, is often accompanied by secondary bacterial infection that might cause meningitis or brain abscess resulting in fever, headache, nausea, vomiting, neck stiffness, or convulsions or coma [37]. Septicemia due to enteric microorganisms like Pseudomonas aeruginosa may result in shock [132]. Pelvic inflammatory disease has also been ascribed to S. stercoralis [37]. Migration of larvae through skin may cause petechial or purpuric lesions [135][140][141]. In disseminated complicated strongyloidiasis, the mortality rate could reach up to 85 % [47] if anti-Strongyloides therapy is not given immediately. The most frequently used drugs for the treatment of strongyloidiasis are ivermectin (200 µg/kg body weight in a single dose) and albendazole (400 mg daily for 3 days) [142][143]. In a comparative study conducted on both regimens in Zanzibar, a cure rate of 82.9% and 45.0% was reported for ivermectin and albendazole respectively [142]. Zaha et al. [144] reported 96.0% efficacy for ivermectin used at 200 µg/kg that increased to 98.0% after a second follow-up treatment 2 weeks later. Patients with hyperinfection and disseminated strongyloidiasis are treated with repeated doses of lvermectin several weeks apart to completely clear the infection [144]. Antibiotic therapy directed towards enteric pathogens and/or meningitis is also recommended in case of severe and complicated strongyloidiasis [37]. Ivermectin is contraindicated in children younger than 4 years old and pregnant women due to its toxicity [124]. Alternative drugs such as thiabendazole, cambendazole, and mebendazole can be used, but are less effective than ivermectin [122][143][145][146].

Commonly used standard parasitological methods for diagnosing strongyloidiasis are Bearmann technique, formalin-ether concentration, Kato-Katz technique, test-tube culture and agar plate culture [15][47][121]. These methods are laborious, time consuming, and need well-trained technicians [47][125]. Immunological and serological tests have been reported in the diagnosis of strongyloidiasis but with variable sensitivity and specificity [147][148][149][150]. The major clinical manifestations described above, coupled with the detection of rhabditiform larvae and/or embryonated eggs in patient stool by parasitological methods, will assist in the diagnosis of

strongyloidiasis in humans. However, these tests have to be repeated several times to detect the larvae/eggs in the stool, because of the low sensitivity and specificity of these methods [47]. *S. stercoralis* larvae are passed in the stool whereas in *S. fuelleborni*, embryos are passed as eggs. Autoinfection probably also does not occur in *S. fuelleborni* [37].

Specific detection of Strongyloides with improved sensitivity and specificity using DNA obtained from human stool samples, and by identifying using the 18S rDNA with real-time PCR, has been reported [151] as a promising diagnostic method. In Strongyloides spp., the 18S rRNA sequence is highly conserved [152]. However, Hasegawa et al. [121] reported several nucleotide polymorphisms among different species of *Strongyloides*, in four of the hyper variable regions of the 18S rRNA (HVR-I to IV). HVR-IV has been suggested for Strongyloides spp. diagnosis, because the nucleotide arrangements at this region is species specific and no within species variablility has been found [121]. As far as HVR-I and the rest of the SSU are concerned, some withinspecies variablity has recently been detected in S. stercoralis isolated from humans in rural Cambodia [153]. Hasegawa et al. [15] used the mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (cox1) gene for identifying the cryptic variations in S. stercoralis, isolated from different host species. S. stercoralis is generally considered a zoonotic disease [37][125][126]; that transmits from humans to animals and vice versa but the infectivity of S. stercoralis of animal origin to human is a matter of debate [15][125]. To address this question I isolated S. stercoralis larvae from humans and dogs in the same household in rural communities in Northen Cambodia, where the living condition is ideal for strongyloidiasis (people walk barefoot, few or no toilet access). Strongyloides larvae were genotyped using 18S rDNA and cox1 molecular genetic markers. I also investigated the mode of reproduction of free-living generations of the laboratory isolate of *S. stercoralis*.

1.2.8 Strongyloides infections in animals

1.2.8.1 Strongyloides ratti

Strongyloides ratti is a common gastrointestinal parasite of rats (*Rattus norvegicus*) [154]. Although the worms normally reside in the small intestine, there has also been a report of isolation of *S. ratti* from the large intestine of wild rats [154]. *S. ratti* infection in rats is usually cleared 4 weeks after infection due to a strong anti-*S.ratti* immune response [155][156]. The prevalence of *S. ratti* in wild rats in the UK was reported to be 62% [157], demonstrating its high abundance in nature. *S. ratti* infections in rats can be detected by examination of host feces using Baermann technique and agar culture for the presence of *rhabditiform* larvae [47][158]. Immunological, serological and molecular diagnostic tools described above for *S. stercoralis* are also used in the diagnosis of *S. ratti* infections [148][150][159][160].

Phylogenetically, *S. ratti* is closely related to *S. stercoralis* [40][43], and is used as a laboratory model animal to study this human parasitic nematode [161]. The basic biology of *Strongyloides* including genetics [162], sex determination [50], reproduction [45] are well studied and documented in *S. ratti.* In addition, major molecular and genetic tools such as genetic linkage maps [163], transgenesis [79][82], transcriptomics [64] and a well-annotated genome [11] are available for *S. ratti.*

Mongolian gerbils (*Meriones unguiculatus*) have been found to be permissive hosts for many parasitic nematodes including *S. ratti* [19][21][22][164] [165][166]. Persistent *S. venezuelensis* [21][163] and *S. stercoralis* [22] infections have also been reported in gerbils. But there has been no report of natural infection of gerbils with any species of *Strongyloides*. The responses of both natural and permissive hosts to nematode infections can be quantified by infection dynamics and durations (parasitic worm burden, worm/egg output, sex ratios), and change in gene expressions [167][168][169][170]. In this thesis, I systematically compared the *S. ratti* infection dynamics in the

natural host rat and the permissive non-natural host gerbil. I also compared the transcriptomes of parasitic females isolated from rat and gerbil intestines.

1.2.8.2 Strongyloides papillosus

Strongyloides papillosus is a common gastrointestinal parasite of sheep and several domestic and wild ruminants [51][171][172][173]. *S. papillosus* infection is very common in sheep and cattle in tropical to temperate climate zones. There are reports of very closely related species of *Strongyloides* infecting ruminants [29][171][172][173][174][175]. Usually *S. papillosus* infections proceed without clinical manifestations, but heavy infections can result in fatal strongyloidiasis often called sudden death syndrome in young ruminants, due to sudden cardiac arrest without any premonitory signs [176]. The infection routes are peroral, percutaneous and galactogenic [177], but percutaneous is the most common route of infection, whereby infective larvae penetrate intact skin and establish infection [173][178].

The major clinical manifestations in S. *papillosus* infection in lambs and calves are diarrhoea, dehydration, anorexia, cachexia, anaemia, ataxia, nystagmus, slow growth and sudden death [172][179][180]. Commonly observed pathologies in *S. papillous* infected lambs and goat are ventricular fibrillations, enteritis, status spongiosus in the brain, hepatosis, hepatic rupture, nephrosis, pulmonary oedema and interstitial pneumonia [39][176][179][181]. Mortality rates of up to 25% with very high egg output (up to 5,000 eggs per gram of feces) were observed in calves on a beef farm located in South Bohemia, Czech Republic without previous clinical signs [38].

Strongyloides papillosus infections can be diagnosed by detection of the characteristic embryonated eggs in the feces [172][173][182]. The standard flotation technique is used for the eggs, but as the eggs hatch in few hours after fecal collection, the Baermann method is also suitable for detecting the larvae [60][179]. Parasitological and molecular diagnostic methods described for *S. stercoralis* above can also be applied in the diagnosis of *S. papillosus* infection. Ivermectin in a dose of 200 µg/kg administered subcutaneously,

albendazole and benzimidazoles are used for the treatment of adult *S. papillosus* in sheep, goat and cattle [183]. The biology, genetic and genomics of *S. papillosus* has been studied as in *S. ratti* [11]. The rabbit is a permissive sub-optimal host for *S. papillosus* and is commonly used to raise this parasite in the laboratory [60][173][184].However, successful infection using single iL3 to establish isofemale lines have so far not been achieved in rabbits, but are possible although technically difficult in lambs [59].

Transcriptomic information about the gene expression profiles of different developmental stages, have so far been reported for only three of the Strongyloides spp. (S. ratti, S. stercoralis and S. venezuelensis), whose genomes were recently reported by Hunt et al. [11], but not for all of the life cycle stages. Hunt et al. [11] reported that CAP and Astacin gene families have undergone much duplication in Strongyloides spp. This extreme expansion coincided with the emergence of parasitism but continued during subsequent speciation events. They are possibly associated with the infection of novel hosts and makes members of these families primary candidates for genes associated with parasitism [11]. Blaxter et al. [7] suggested that parasitism evolved multiple times independently in the phylum Nematoda. Thus it seems unlikely, that there is only a single genomic basis for parasitism in nematodes [185]. To get more insight into the evolution of parasitism at the genomic level, multiple independent studies focusing on different parasitic species as well as non-parasitic outgroups from different clades would be needed. The identification of candidate genes associated with parasitism is very important for the development of potential treatments, especially in Strongyloidides spp. To contribute more to the ever-improving transcriptome areas of parasitic nematodes, I conducted a comparative transcriptomics analysis between different developmental stages of S. papillosus and compared the results with the published transcriptome data of S. ratti.

1.3 The genus Onchocerca

The genus Onchocerca consists of about 30 described species that can parasitize ungulates [24], humans [26] and dogs [23][186]. It is associated with endosymbiontic Wolbachia bacteria [221]. Onchocerca spp. undergo two host switches during their life cycle, between a vertebrate host and an insect intermediate host (in the case of the species discussed here black flies). Adult stages are only found in the vertebrate hosts. During the blood meal, the black fly takes up the first larval stage worms (microfilariae). The microfilariae then migrate to the muscle of the thorax of the fly, and molt to the second larval stage. After a few days they molt to the third larval stage, which is the infective stage. This infective stage migrates to the head of the fly and gets deposited into host tissue during the next blood meal [27]. It is very difficult to distinguish the infective larvae of different Onchocerca spp. morphologically. In the vertebrate host, the infective larvae undergo two more molts and develop to adult worms. Adult females can grow up to 30 cm while males are only about 5 cm long. The adult females of some species (among them the human parasite O. volvulus) induce the formation of a nodule made of host tissue consisting mainly of collagen, where they stay for the rest of their life. One adult female produce about 75, 000 to 100, 000 healthy embryos per reproductive cycle [27][187]. The embryos hatch to microfilarea in the female, and migrate to the subcutaneous tissues of the vertebrate host, to be taken up by black fly vector during a blood meal to continue their developmental cycle [27].

1.3.1 Onchocerca ochengi and O. volvulus

Onchocerca ochengi is a nodule-forming parasite of cattle. It is most closely related to *O. volvulus* (the causative agent of human onchocerciasis also called river blindness), because the black flies (vector) breed along fast running streams and rivers [188]. *O. ochengi* and *O. volvulus* show many parallels in their biology and share the black fly *Simulium damnosum s.l.* as a vector [26][27]. It has been proposed that *O. volvulus* arose from a host

switching event from cattle to their keepers as little as 10,000 years ago [24]. *O. ochengi* infection in cattle is not associated with any obvious pathology, and it was speculated that this is the consequence of a longer time of coevolution between *O. ochengi* and cattle [191]. *O. volvulus* can render carriers completely blind. Two distinct strains of *O. volvulus* are known to exist in West Africa [24][26]: the Forest strain (which causes mild eye lesions) is endemic to the rainforest region, while the Savanna strain (causes severe eye lesions) is endemic in the savanna region [26].

The intradermal O. ochengi nodules are easily accessible. Their number increases over time because multiple sequential infections of the same cattle host are possible [188]. Because of this ease of accession and phylogenetic closeness, O. ochengi can serve as an experimentally more approachable animal model, for studying aspects of the O. volvulus biology [188], but not the pathology, since it causes little or no disease in cattle. Krüger et al. [24] isolated from black flies in Uganda iL3s of an undetermined Onchocerca spp., which they referred to as Onchocerca spp. variant Siisa. Based on very limited mitochondrial DNA sequence information, this variant appeared to be very closely related to O. ochengi and to O. volvulus, but the phylogenetic relationship between the taxa could not be resolved [24]. Eisenbarth et al. [190], using the partial sequences of the 12S, 16S and the cox1 mitochondrial genes as markers, identified microfilaria and adults of Onchocerca spp. Siisa also in black flies and cattle nodules in Cameroon. This demonstrated, that cattle is at least one of the definitive hosts of this variant. Recently, using nuclear and mitochondrial genetic markers, Hildebrandt et al. [191] has shown that Onchocerca spp. Siisa is interbreeding with O. ochengi. There are no obvious morphological differences between Onchocerca spp. Siisa and O. ochengi [24][190]. These findings suggest that Onchocerca spp. Siisa is a mitochondrial clade of O. ochengi. However, also in this study the phylogenetic relationship of O. ochengi, Onchocerca spp. Siisa and O. volvulus could not be resolved due to insufficient sequence information. To clarify this I determined the whole mitochondrial genomes of nine O. ochengi and two Onchocerca spp. Siisa individuals isolated from cattle.

1.4 Aims of this thesis

The unifying themes of this thesis are host specificity and host switching. Host switching at the level of current species that can use multiple hosts, is a very important process in the context of zoonotic transmission of pathogens to humans. Host switching in evolutionary time frames may be an important determinant for the formation of new parasite species. To address these questions I performed laboratory experiments and field studies. The aims of each of the four projects followed are outlined below.

1.4.1 Parasitological and transcriptomics comparison of *S. ratti* infections in rats and gerbils

In order to evaluate the consequences of living in a different, presumably suboptimal host, I decided to compare experimental *S. ratti* infections in rats (which are the preferred natural hosts) and in gerbils (which are permissive but presumably suboptimal hosts). I wanted to measure firstly parasite performance with respect to infection success, survival and reproduction and secondly, to compare the global gene expression profiles in order to identify genes that are differentially expressed between the parasitic adults isolated from both hosts.

1.4.2 Comparative transcriptomics analyses of different developmental stages of *S. papillosus*

Recently Hunt et al. [11] reported the genomes of four species of *Strongyloides*. While the genomic sequence of *S. papillosus* was included in this work, however the transcriptomic studies were not reported for this species. I sequenced the transcriptomes of different developmental stages of *S. papillosus* and compared them among themselves and with the published data of *S. ratti.* Special attention was given to Astacin and CAP protein families, which are very expanded in *Strongyloides* spp.

1.4.3 Genetic variations and reproduction in human parasitic nematode, *S. stercoralis*

S. stercoralis is a human parasitic roundworm but natural infections have also been reported in dogs, cats and several non-human primates. The aim of this project was to determine to what extent *S. stercoralis* is transmitted from dogs to humans and vice versa. By determining the nuclear 18S rDNA and mitochondrial *cox*1 sequences of *S. stercoralis* individuals isolated from humans and dogs in the same households in rural Cambodia, I addressed the question of whether *S. stercoralis* in dogs and humans form single or separate populations.

1.4.4 Genetic and phylogenetic analyses of *O. ochengi* isolates using complete mitochondrial genome sequences

It is hypothesized that *O. volvulus*, the causative agent of human river blindness, evolved from the cattle parasite *O. ochengi* through a host switch from cattle to their keepers, as recently as 10,000 years ago. Based on very limited sequence information, it had been proposed that with respect to their mitochondrial genome, two different clades exist within the species *O. ochengi*, referred to as type "ochengi" and type "Siisa". Phylogenetically, these two-mitochondrial types appeared to be equally distant from each other, than either of them is from *O. volvulus*, raising some questions about the species status of *O. volvulus*. I set up to re-evaluate the phylogenetic relationship of *O. ochengi* type "ochengi", *O. ochengi* type "Siisa" and *O. volvulus* by including full mitochondrial sequence information.

2. Results and Discussion

2.1 Parasitological and transcriptomic comparison of *S. ratti* infections in rat and gerbil hosts

2.1.1 S. ratti infections: duration, worm output, sex ratios and worm burdens

In two independent experiments, groups of four male rats and four male gerbils were infected with 500 iL3s per animal. The worm output was measured starting at day six after infection as described in materials and methods. The nightly total worm counts are shown in Figure 6 A-B. The total worm count was higher in gerbils compared with rats, but the worm output was higher in rats during the first two weeks of infection. However, it is important to note, that the absolute numbers of worms counted are not really comparable between the two different hosts because they might pass different proportions of their daily output during the sampling period. The mean *S. ratti* total worm output count was highest around the 15th day post infection in rats and about one day later in gerbils and then declined in both hosts. However, while the decline in rats was fast and after one month, no worms were detected, in gerbils, substantial worm output was observed for more than four months and only after 6 months were no larvae found anymore.



Figure 6. Nightly mean total worm count per host individual from rats (A) and gerbils (B) infected with 500 iL3 per animal. Error bars are the standard deviation between the six parallel cultures made from each collection cache. PI days = post infection days; TWC = total worm count; R1 = replicate 1; R2 = replicate 2. The TWC over the lifetime was significantly higher for the worms in gerbils (p = 0.001768).

These results are in line with previous reports on other *Strongyloides* spp. raised in permissive but presumably suboptimal hosts. In *S. venezuelensis*, persistent infections of gerbils that lasted 450 days [164] and 570 days [21] were reported. In the second, the limiting factor was actually the life span of the gerbil hosts, which are short-lived animals. In these experiments, the gerbils were able to clear the *S. ratti* infections after about six months. This might be due to the low dose of iL3s (500) used in this experiment or because gerbils are indeed able to eventually clear *S. ratti* but not *S. venezuelensis* infections [164]. The quick clearance within about a month of *S. ratti* infections from rats is due to a strong anti-*S. ratti* immune response [155][156]. Khan et al. [192] claimed that the inability of Mongolian gerbils to expel *S. venezuelensis* is not due to a failure to recognize the parasite antigens, but due to defects in effectors/regulatory cells such as mast cells. Nolan et al. [22]

also reported prolonged *S. stercoralis* infection in gerbils of up to 130 days without using immunosuppressant drugs. *S. stercoralis* which is very closely related to *S. ratti*, has the special ability to maintain long lasting infections in humans and dogs through an auto-infective cycle [37]. Autoinfection has also been observed in experimental infections of gerbils with *S. stercoralis* [193]. However, the prolonged duration of *S. venezuelensis* [21][164] and *S. ratti* [19] appear not to be associated with autoinfection.

There was a significant difference in total male to female ratios between worms derived from gerbils and rats feces (Figure 7 A-B). While the sex ratio remained stable with a slight excess of females in cultures from rats, in cultures from gerbils, an excess (3.8 fold) of males was observed during the first two weeks, which then declined to approximately equal numbers of males and females after one month of infection. An elevated proportion of males has also been observed for *S. papillosus* (natural host sheep) in rabbits, which act as permissive hosts [46] and in cattle [173] but not for *S. ratti* in mice [61]. As expected, based on earlier literature [194], culture temperature had no effect on the sex ratio.


Figure 7. Total male to female ratios of worms collected from rats (A) and gerbils (B) feces cultured at 19°C and 22°C. Error bars are the standard deviations between the six parallel cultures made from each collection cache. PI days = post infection days; R1 = replicate 1; R2 = replicate 2. The difference in sex ratio over the lifetime is highly significant (p<0.00001).

In two separate experiments, groups of four rats and gerbils were infected with 500 iL3s per animal and 12 days after infection, the animals were sacrificed and the adult parasitic worms were isolated from the small intestine and counted. The worm burden in rats (288.25±6.6 and 290±9.93 in the two replicates, respectively) was significantly higher compared to gerbils (65±8.1 and 70±6.32) (Figure 8). There were no visible phenotypic differences between parasitic adults isolated from rats and gerbils. These results clearly showed that in gerbils the infection success is lower than in rats, but those worms that are successful in gerbils, survive longer and produce more progeny than in rats. The high worm output from gerbils when compared with rats might lead to the impression that gerbils are even better hosts than rats. But this cannot be concluded for various reasons. Firstly, the absolute numbers of worms observed cannot be directly compared between the two hosts, because the determined worm output was over night and not over the full day. The two host species have different circadian rhythms and it is therefore likely that they shed a different proportion of the total larvae produced during the collection window. For animal welfare reasons it was not acceptable to maintain the animals permanently in collection caches. Secondly, experimental infections were done by subcutaneous injection of infective larvae, thereby bypassing the natural host recognition and skin penetration. Thirdly, in gerbils a high, probably suboptimal, proportion of males were produced.

28



Figure 8. Mean number of parasitic worms isolated from sacrificed rats and gerbils. The error bars are standard deviations. The difference is highly significant (p<0.00001)

2.1.2 Transcriptomes of parasitic S. ratti adults isolated from rats and gerbils

The parasitic worms isolated from the small intestines of the four animals of a group were pooled resulting in two biological replicates. I sequenced poly (A) plus transcriptomes of parasitic worms isolated from both hosts. In all four samples between 10,000 and 11,000 transcripts were covered. The two biological replicates for both groups correlated very well (Figure 9). The expression profiles in the two hosts were very similar with only relatively few genes showing significantly different expressions. In the first replicate, we identified 259 transcripts, which were differentially expressed, of which 39 and 220 were higher in parasitic worms isolated from rats and gerbils, respectively. In the second dataset, we found 204 transcripts to be differentially expressed, 84 up-regulated in worms from rats and 120 up-regulated in worms isolated from gerbils. In most instances the differences were very close to the significance borders and only 23 transcripts, which

were differentially expressed in both RNA-Seq datasets were identified (Table 1). One transcript, predicted to encode a cuticular collagen, was differentially expressed in opposite direction in the two replicates. Among the other 22 transcripts, three were derived from putative astacin-like metalloendopeptidase genes and four from genes predicted to encode acetylcholinesterases.



Figure 9. Correlation of the different parasitic adults RNA-Seq experiments. A) Comparison between rats and gerbils, replicate 1; B) comparison between rats and gerbils, replicate 2; C) Comparison between the two replicates in gerbils; D) Comparison between the two replicates in rats.

Despite the different hosts and the clear *S. ratti* performance in rats and gerbils, there were very little differences between the gene expression patterns. Similarly, an earlier study comparing parasitic adult *S. ratti* in rats

with varying immunological status, found only very little difference in over all gene expression in spite of considerable phenotypic differences [64]. In the present study, even among those genes that were significantly differentially regulated in both experiments, the fold changes were generally rather low. Only seven genes, among them two astacin-like and one acetylcholinesterase gene, were on average over the two experiments, up-regulated in gerbils more than two fold (maximum 3.4 fold) and only two genes, both Acetylcholinesterases, were reduced to less than half in gerbils. Astacin-like and acetylcholinesterase family genes were very prominently represented among the genes that were significantly differentially expressed in both experiments (three and four genes respectively among a total of 23). Both of these gene families are greatly expanded in Strongyloididae [11]. Different members of these families show different developmental stage specific expression patterns. All three astacin-like genes identified, belong to the fraction of this family described to be high in parasitic adults compared with free-living and infective stages [11], and all three were further up-regulated in worms from gerbils compared to worms from rats. In fact, the two most strongly up-regulated genes in gerbils were astacin-like genes. Of the fouracetylcholinesterase genes, one was up regulated in gerbils, while three were down regulated in this host. The two most strongly down-regulated genes in gerbils were acetylcholinesterase genes. Interestingly, both these genes were found by Hunt et al. [11] to be down regulated in parasitic adults when compared with iL3s. The significance of these observations remains open for the moment and further functional analyses will be needed to investigate the role of these genes during S. ratti infections in the two hosts.

31

| No. | WormBase ParaSite | Fold change | P value | Fold change | P value | NCBI and InterPro blast (Spp. and gene prediction) |
|-----|-------------------|-------------|----------|-------------|-----------|---|
| | Transcript ID | (R/G) RNA- | | (R/G) RNA- | | |
| | | Seq 1 | | Seq 2 | | |
| 1 | SRAE_X000195300 | 1.594 | 0.000573 | 1.488 | 7.34E-07 | H. polygyrus bakeri, acetylcholinesterase-2 |
| 2 | SRAE_X000061300 | 3.248 | 2.36E-10 | 2.510 | 1.76E-13 | B. malayi, acetylcholinesterase |
| 3 | SRAE_X000062300 | 4.718 | 0 | 2.90 | 0 | D. viviparus Secretory acetylcholinesterase variant 2 |
| 4 | SRAE_X000147200 | 0.0952 | 3.67E-06 | 0.485 | 5.02E-06 | S. stercoralis, Metalloproteinase proprotein |
| 5 | SRAE_X000147300 | 0.1322 | 0 | 0.580 | 3.59E-12 | S. stercoralis, Metalloproteinase proprotein |
| 6 | SRAE_X000064500 | 0.6615 | 0.040236 | 0.774 | 0.0358 | A. suum, Innexin-3 |
| 7 | SRAE 0000057800 | 0.3606 | 1.08E-05 | 0.510 | 1.51E-07 | Hypothetical protein |
| 8 | SRAE_X000012700 | 0.632 | 0.01564 | 0.736 | 0.026 | A.suum Elongation of very long chain fatty acids |
| 9 | SRAE_X000030400 | 0.420 | 8.40E-08 | 0.556 | 5.80E-09 | C.remanei, Fatty acid desaturase family member (fat 3) |
| 10 | SRAE_X000062000 | 0.202 | 0 | 0.5546 | 0 | B. malayi, Neuronal acetylcholinesterase |
| 11 | SRAE_1000035700 | 0.48 | 0.030204 | 0.525 | 3.23E-05 | B. malayi, Sugar transporter family protein |
| 12 | SRAE_10000101500 | 0.551 | 0.020092 | 0.695 | 0.026434 | Hypothetical protein transcript evidence in iL3 larvae |
| 13 | SRAE_1000110000 | 0.499 | 3.12E-05 | 0.588 | 1.76E-06 | C. brenneri, oxidoreductase, zinc binding dehydrogenase |
| 14 | SRAE_2000131800 | 0.526 | 0.016051 | 0.50 | 5.15E-08 | Hypothetical protein, transcript evidence in iL3 larvae |
| 15 | SRAE_2000326000 | 0.618 | 0.007719 | 0.74 | 0.0172 | C. elegans, Zinc metalloproteinase (nas) |
| 16 | SRAE_2000377500 | 1.52 | 0.01212 | 0.351 | 0 | Nematode cuticle collagen |
| 17 | SRAE_2000456100 | 0.420 | 0.023931 | 0.508 | 0.0073 | A. suum, DeHydrogenases, Short chain family member |
| 18 | SRAE_2000499920 | 1.418 | 0.029391 | 1.414 | 4.23E-05 | Hypothetical protein transcript evidence in iL3 larvae |
| 19 | SRAE_2000498800 | 1.757 | 7.50E-05 | 1.298 | 0.0349 | Hypothetical protein transcript evidence in iL3 larvae |
| 20 | SRAE_X000146200 | 0.201 | 0.000497 | 0.545 | 0.0416632 | Hypothetical protein, no blast, no interpro |
| 21 | SRAE_X000177900 | 0.5819 | 0.024504 | 0.606 | 0.0004061 | Glutathione peroxidase domain containing protein |
| 22 | SRAE_X000201400 | 0.564 | 9.88E-05 | 0.784 | 0.016248 | C. briggsae, Argonaute Like Gene family member |
| 23 | SRAE_X000238600 | 1.66 | 0.0047 | 1.387 | 0.0091248 | C. briggsae, Non specific lipid transfer protein |
| | | | | | | |

Table 1. Expression values and comparison for all differentially expressed *S. ratti* transcripts.

In summary, upon experimental infection by subcutaneous injection of infective larvae, *S. ratti* can establish patent infections that last for several months in Mongolian gerbils. The portion of infective larvae that successfully colonize the host is smaller than in the natural host (rats), but the ones that are successful live longer and reproduce well. However, they produce a high proportion of male progeny. These prolonged and stable infections make gerbil good laboratory host for the long-term maintenance of *S. ratti*. The

transcriptomes of parasitic *S. ratti* in rats and gerbils are very similar. Among the few differentially expressed genes, astacin-like and acetylcholinesterase family genes are prominent.

2.1.3 Contributions

I designed this study with Dr Adrian Streit. I performed all experiments in this study. I did subcutaneous infection of rats and gerbils, collection and culture of feces and counting worm output from the culture. I isolated parasitic adults from rats and gerbils and extracted total RNA. I prepared transcriptome libraries for sequencing for in all biological and technical replicates. The sequencing was done in the in house sequencing service facility Bioinformatic analyses were done by Dr. Christian Rödelsperger. I wrote the manuscript with Dr Streit. This work has been submitted to Experimental Parasitology.

2.2 Comparative transcriptomics analyses of different developmental stages of *S. papillosus*

2.2.1 Overview of the differentially expressed genes

In order to compare the gene expression profiles, ten transcriptome libraries from six developmental stages of *S. papillosus* were prepared and analyzed. Principal component analyses of the estimated expression levels quantified as FPKM (Fragments per kilobase transcript per million mapped reads) were estimated using Cufflinks [229]. The principal component analysis indicates that 55% of the variations can be explained by the first two principal components (Figure 10). The ten transcriptomes basically form three clusters, a cluster with young larvae and males, a cluster with parasitic and free-living females, and a cluster with infective larvae. The samples within a cluster are highly correlated in terms of gene expression values when compared with samples from other clusters. The median Spearman's correlation coefficients

for within-clusters comparison and between-clusters comparison were 0.92 (Q1: 0.82 and Q3: 0.99) and 0.73 (Q1: 0.68 and Q3:0.82) respectively (Figure 10). Variations between different developmental stages are considerably larger than the variation between biological replicates. Therefore, the identified transcriptome profiles robustly capture gene expression differences during the development of *S. papillosus*. Pairwise differential gene expression analysis showed that the number of differentially expressed genes vary widely from 0.2% (L1/L2 stage from parasitic females in comparison with L1/L2 from free-living) to 45% (iL3s in comparison with parasitic females stage) (Figure 11). Comparison between free-living and parasitic females showed only 10% of genes were significantly differentially expressed and of that, only 4.4% (917) of genes were up-regulated in parasitic females. Overall, 73% of S. papillosus genes are found as significantly differentially expressed (FDR< 0.05) in at least one comparison. This observation indicates that the evolution of small set of genes is enough to acquire parasitism. This relatively small set of infection-associated genes is consistent with previous studies, which found that 909 and 1188 genes were up-regulated in parasitic females in S. ratti and S. stercoralis respectively [11]. Other studies in Strongyloides spp. identified much smaller candidate sets for parasitism-associated genes[72][195].



Figure 10. Principal component analysis of *S. papillosus* different stages transcriptomes replcates. The expression values show a subdivision of transcriptomes into distinct clusters that are defined by developmental stages and sex from different batches of RNA-Seq dataset.



Figure 11. Numbers of significantly differentially expressed genes between different developmental stages of *S. papillosus* transcriptomes. Dark blue and orange colors indicate significant enrichment (FDR <0.05 and enrichment value > 1) and no enrichment respectively.

In order to better understand the evolution of gene expression in different developmental stages, the genes were classified into three groups based on sequence similarity to *S. ratti* using Orthomcl [196]. Homologous genes maintained as single copy in both species were treated as one-to-one orthologs, and paralogous gene clusters were classified as ancient and recent duplications depending on the presence and absence of *S. ratti* genes in the clusters respectively. Based on this definition, 9302 one-to-one orthologs, 2952 ancient duplicated genes, 3443 recently duplicated genes and 2759 orphan singletons with no homolog in either *S. papillosus* or in *S. ratti* were found. The enrichment of these different orthology classes among

differentially expressed genes was also tested. In the majority of the cases, one-to-one orthologs were highly enriched among genes differentially expressed between different developmental stages (Figure 12). One of the interesting findings is the strong depletion of recent duplicates in all comparison, except two female parasitic stage comparisons. Enrichment of duplicates among female parasitic stage-specific genes suggests a role of gene duplication in the evolution of parasitism in *Strongyloides*. In phylogenetic analyses of Neurotransmitter-gated ion channel (NGIC) genes (one-to-one orthologous) from *S. papillosus* and *S. ratti* were grouped together (Figure 13). This indicates the robustness of the computational approach used for assigning orthologous classes. The majority of one-to-one orthologs are up regulated in iL3 stage in comparison with free-living and parasitic females in both species. In general, one-to-one orthologs have similar expression patterns in *S. papillosus* and *S. ratti*, which implies a high degree of conservation.

| | Enric | chment No en | richment |
|--|----------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------|
| Parasitic females vs FL female | 1.8 | 0.5 | 1.7 |
| Parasitic females vs L1/L2 from FL | 1.7 | 0.8 | 1.3 |
| Parasitic females vs males | 1.2 | 1.1 | 0.7 |
| Parasitic females vs iL3 | 1.1 | 1.2 | 0.6 |
| iL3 vs FL females | 0.7 | 1.5 | 0.3 |
| iL3 vs L1/L2 from FL | 0.8 | 1.4 | 0.4 |
| iL3 vs L1/L2 from parasitic females | 0.8 | 1.4 | 0.4 |
| iL3 vs males | 0.7 | 1.5 | 0.3 |
| Males vs FL females | 1.2 | 1.1 | 0.8 |
| Males vs L1/L2 from FL | 1.4 | 1.1 | 0.8 |
| Males vs L1L2 from parasitic females | 1.1 | 1 | 0.8 |
| L1/L2 from parasitic fem vs FL females | 0.6 | 1.6 | 0.1 |
| L1L2 from FL vs FL females | 0.7 | 1.5 | 0.3 |
| | Ancient duplicted genes | One-to-one orthologs | Recently duplicated genes |

Figure 12. Pairwise comparison of *S. papillosus* transcriptome based on their expression. FL= Free-living; iL3= infective larvae 3; L1/L2=stage 1 and 2 larvae. This analysis reveals that most comparisons are enriched in one-to-one orthologs indicating that developmentally regulated genes tend to be conserved at the sequence level.



Figure 13. Gene expression, sequence evolution and phylogenetic tree of *S. papillosus* (green) and *S. ratti* (black) NGIC gene family. The heatmap around the phylogenetic tree indicates differential expression pattern of each gene in three different comparisons. In the heatmap, up-regulation, down-regulation and no change are shown in green, red and black respectively. This tree shows that the majority of one-to-one orthologs in the NGIC gene family have similar expression pattern in *S. papillosus* and *S. ratti*.

2.2.2 Expressions of Astacin and CAP gene family members

Protein domain enrichment analyses were performed to identify the functional component of the differentially expressed genes (Figure 14 A). 221 gene families show enrichment in at least 2 different comparisons, with Pkinase, HSP20, motile sperm, collagens, different sub families of GPCR and few other families in more than 5 comparisons. One of the interesting findings is the enrichment of astacin and CAP gene families among genes up-regulated in parasitic females compared with free-living females (Figure 14 B). This is consistent with the recent observation of astacin and CAPs enrichment in the parasitic females of S. ratti and S. stercoralis [11], and further supports the hypothesis proposed by Hunt et al. [11], that the expansions of astacins and CAPs are associated with the evolution of parasitism in *Strongyloides* spp. Apart from the enrichment of these two gene family members in the parasitic female stage, a considerable number of astacin and CAP genes were also upregulated in iL3 stage. In these analyses, more than 200 genes with astacin domains show significant differential expression, of which 131 genes show up-regulation in parasitic females and 67 in iL3 stage in one or more comparisons. Similarly, 94 and 49 CAP domain genes show up regulation in parasitic females and iL3 in at least one comparison respectively.



Figure 14. Age classification and domain enrichement of the *S. papillosus* transcriptomes. A) Box plot representation of the age of genes as measured in dS (synonymous substitutions rate). The median age of recently duplicated genes is lower than the one of ancient duplicated genes and one-to-one orthologs; B) Enrichment of protein domains among genes up regulated in paraistic females compared with free-living females (FDR < 0.05 and enrichment value > 1).

Upregulation of members of the same gene families in different developmental stages raised a question of how variable expression patterns can arise within a single gene family. Recent work in the nematode *Pristionchus pacificus* showed evidence for subfunctionalization in terms of developmental regulation in the HSP20 gene family [197]. A Phylogenetic tree was reconstructed using *S. papillosus* CAP protein sequences and its differential expression matrix, and two different sets of paralogous gene clusters with interesting differential expression pattern, labeled as Cap-A and Cap-B were found (Figure 16). Genes in Cap-A was up-regulated specifically in the iL3 stage and showed no significant change in other comparisons (Figure 15 A). Similarly, genes in Cap-B are up-regulated predominantly in the female parasitic stage (Figure 15 B). This confirms that different members of

the CAP gene family have different expression profiles and the expression pattern is not conserved within this family.

On the other hand, the Astacin tree indicates that more than half of the Astacin gene family members show stage specific differential expression in parasitic females and iL3 stages (Figure 17). Two major clusters (Asta-A and Asta-B) in the Astacin tree were found. Whereas genes in Asta-A show no shared expression pattern, individual subclusters in Asta-B show shared but heterogeneous patterns of differential expression. For easy understanding, Asta-B was subdivided into five distinct subclusters based on their differential expression pattern. Genes in paralogous cluster Asta-B1 and Asta-B5 showed up-regulation in parasitic females (Figure 18 A and D), and Asta-B2 and Asta-B3 genes in iL3 (Figure 18 B and C). Subcluster Asta-B4 shows strong trends of downregulation in various comparisons including iL3. Even though, a large number of Astacin genes have no specific expression profiles, genes in clusters Asta-B1, Asta-B5, Asta-B2 and Asta-B4 reflect the previous observation of different functions performed by members of this gene family (Figure 17). These indicate that despite a large over-representation of Astacin and CAP proteins in parasitic stages, distinct members of the same gene family have increased levels of expression in other developmental stages as well (Figure 15 and 17).



Figure 15. The expression values of different developmental satages *S. papillosus* CAP gene family. A) CAP-A and; B) CAP-B



Figure 16. Phylogenetic tree and expression patterns of different developmental stages of *S. papillosus* CAP genes. A) Genes in the phylogenetic tree are colored based on gene class. Gray rectangles denote two arbitrarily defined paralogous clusters CAP-A and CAP-B, which represent relatively closely related gene sets with similar expression profiles. Blue doted lines indicate sub-clusters chosen for in-depth sequence analysis to test for positive selection; B) The heatmap shows the differential expression pattern for each gene across all pairwise comparison of *S. papillosus* developmental stages. Up-regulation, down-regulation and no change in gene expression are shown in green, red and black respectively in the heatmap.



Figure 17. Phylogenetic tree and expression patterns of Astacin genes from different developmental stages of *S. papillsosus*. Leaves (genes) in the phylogenetic tree are colored based on gene class. Gray rectangles denote arbitrarily defined paralogous clusters Asta-B1, Asta-B2, Asta-B3, Asta-B4 and Asta-B5. Blue doted lines indicate subclusters chosen for in-depth sequence analysis to test for positive selection; B) The heatmap shows differential expression pattern for each gene in the tree across all pairwise comparison of *S. papillosus* developmental stages. Up-regulation, down-regulation and no change in gene expression are shown in green, red and black respectively.



Figure 18. The expression values of *S. papillosus* different developmental stages Astacin genes families. A) Asta-B1; B) Asta-B2; C) Asta-B3 and D) Asta-B5 are shown as box plot.

This stage-specific expression of different sets of duplicated genes in parasitic females and iL3 stage indicates the possibility of sub-functionalization mechanism acting on Astacin and CAP gene families, where gene duplication is followed by partition of function or expression between duplicates. Similar patterns of sub-functionalization has been observed in the heat shock protein family (HSP20) of *P. pacificus*, where distinct paralogous gene clusters have higher expression levels in different developmental stages [197]. This shows that sub-functionalization is one of the dominant mechanisms in retention of duplicated genes in nematodes. Similar cases of sub-functionalization aided duplicated gene retention have been reported in different organism ranging from yeast [198] to insects [201][202]. Even though the expansion of CAP and Astacin gene families as identified in Strongyloidides cannot be proven to be the causative event leading to parasitism in this family, previous experimental studies have given first hints on what role these families may have during infection. CAP proteins are cystine rich secretary proteins, functioning as immunomodulatory molecules in parasitic nematodes [201]. They play a

crucial role in parasite establishment and immune modulation upon *Necator americanus* infection. Because of their inhibitory effect on neutrophill and platelet activity, these proteins are considered as a potential vaccine candidate against hookworms [205]. On the other hand, Astacins are metallopeptidase found in variety of different species [204]. Functional roles for Astacin proteases in parasitic nematodes include host tissue penetration by iL3s [205], cuticle formation and ecdysis [208][211] and tissue digestion, penetration and migration [210]. The identification of candidate genes associated with parasitism is of utmost importance for the development of potential treatments, especially in a family of nematodes such as *Strongyloidides*, of which has the potential to infect a wide range of vertebrate hosts including humans. The fact that gene duplications have previously been reported to be associated with parasitism in plants, arthropods, and trematodes [213][214] further support the nature of CAPs and Astacins as strong parasitism-associated candidate genes.

The current results confirm and extend previous findings on the evolution of parasitism-associated genes in *Strongyloides* nematodes. Astacin and CAP gene family evolution is a result of discrete and continuous changes in the environment, such as host switches and adaptation of the host immune response, but further studies in other systems are needed to bring these findings into the broader context of general evolution of parasitism in parasitic nematodes.

2.2.3 Contributions

Praveen Baskaran and I designed this study. I did all the parasitological works. I isolated total RNA and prepared transcriptome libraries for sequencing from all the six developmental stages in all replicates. The sequencing was done in the in house sequencing service facility. Praveen Baskaran and Dr. Christian Rödelsperger did all the bioinformatic analyses. I wrote the manuscript with Praveen, Dr. Christian Rödelsperger and Dr. Adrian Streit. This work has been submitted to Genome Biology and Evolution.

2.3 Genetic diversity and reproduction in the human parasitic nematode *Strongyloides stercoralis*

2.3.1 Different genotypes of S. stercoralis isolated from humans and dogs

Although some degree of host specialization was proposed in the literature, *S. stercoralis* is considered a species which lives in humans, dogs and other non-human primates [15][121][213]. To address the zoonotic importance and genetic diversity of *S. stercoralis*, the SSU region covering the HVR-I and HVR-IV were successfully sequenced for 340 and 99 single *Strongyloides* larvae isolated from humans and dogs respectively. All the *S. stercoralis* larvae isolated from humans, had the same nucleotide sequence at HVR-IV as the published *S. stercoralis* full length SSU sequence (AF279916), which I used as a reference (human type genotype). From a total of 99 single *Strongyloides* larvae genotyped from dogs, only 14 had the human type genotype and the rest (85 larvae) differed at three positions (two indels, one base substitution, called dog type genotype) (Table 2 and Figure19).

| | | | | 1 | 25 | 0 | | | | | | | 126 | 50 | | | | | | | 12 | 70 | | | | | | | 128 | 0 | | | | | | 1 | 129 | 10 | | | | | | | 1300 |
|-----------------|---|-----|-----|---|----|---|----|-----|-----|---|---|-----|-----|-----|---|---|-----|-----|-----|---|----|-----|---|---|-----|-----|---|-----|-----|---|---|-----|-----|---|---|-----|-----|----|---|----|-----|---|---|-----|-------|
| | | | | | | | | _ | | | 1 | _ | | _ | | | | L | _ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | | | - | | | | | 1 | | |
| Consensus | T | A 1 | T | A | A | A | T | A 1 | T | A | T | Τf | A T | T | T | T | G. | T | Ī | A | I. | ΤT | T | A | - 1 | Ŧ | A | ΤF | A A | A | T | A A | T | T | A | A T | Ĥ | T | T | T. | TΑ | A | T | A A | A C A |
| AF217996(Refr) | t | a i | t t | a | a | a | t | a f | t t | a | t | t (| a t | : t | t | t | g ' | t t | : t | a | t | t t | t | a | - (| a t | Q | t (| a | a | t | a a | ı t | t | a | a t | : a | t | t | t | t a | a | t | a (| 3 C (|
| KU724129(Dog) | T | A 1 | T | Ĥ | A | A | ΤI | A 1 | T | A | T | Τf | A T | T | T | - | Ġ. | ΓT | T | Ĥ | I. | ΤT | T | T | TI | ηT | Ĥ | ΤF | A A | A | T | A A | T | T | A | ΑT | Ĥ | T | T | I. | ΓA | Ĥ | T | A A | A C A |
| KU724128(Human) | T | A 1 | T | ß | A | A | ΤI | A 1 | T | A | T | Τf | A T | T | T | T | G. | ΓT | T | Ĥ | T | ΤT | T | Ĥ | - | ηF | Ĥ | ΤF | A A | A | T | A A | T | T | A | ΑT | ĥ | T | T | I. | ΤA | Ĥ | T | A A | A C A |
| KU724125(Dog) | T | A 1 | T | A | A | A | T | A 1 | T | A | T | Τf | A T | T | T | T | G . | T | T | Ĥ | I. | ΤT | T | Ĥ | - | ΗT | Ĥ | ΤF | A A | A | T | A A | T | T | A | A T | Ĥ | T | T | T | ΓA | Ĥ | T | A A | A C A |

Figure 19. Nucleotide sequence of *S. stercoralis* 18S rDNA HVR-IV isolated from humans and dogs. Nucleotide differences at HVR-IV of *S. stercoralis* with dog type genotype are given in red. Deletion sites are given by (-) *S. stercoralis* with the human type genotypes from humans and dogs have similar nucleotide arrangement as reference sequence (AF279916).

| | | | SSU | HVRs go | enotypes | |
|--------|-------|-----|-----|---------|------------|----------|
| | HVR-I | | | | HVR-IV | |
| Hosts | Ι | Π | III | Total | Human type | Dog type |
| Humans | 28 | 298 | 14 | 340 | 340 | 0 |
| Dogs | 88 | 10 | 1 | 99 | 14 | 85 |

Table 2. *S. stercoralis* larvae SSU HVR-I and HVR-IV genotypes from humans and dogs.

Genotype I: 4T from position 176 to 179 and T at position 458 (KF926658); Genotype II: 5T from position 176 to 179 and T at position (KF926659); Genotype III: 5T from position 176 to 179 and A at position 458 (KF926660) [153]; Human type HVR-IV genotype: identical nucleotide arrangement at HVR-IV to AF279916 SSU reference sequence (KU724124); Dog type HVR-IV genotype: differed by two indels and one base substitution from the reference sequence (KU724129).

With respect to the HVR-I, three genotypes in humans as described by Schär et al. [153] were found and the same nomenclature for different HVR-I genotypes was used as described by Schär et al. [153] (Table 2). In humans, the highest proportions of S. stercoralis worms have genotype II (298) followed by genotype I (28) and genotype III (14) (Table 2). The majority of the S. stercoralis genotyped from dogs, had genotype I (88) followed by genotype II (10) and geneotype III (1) (Table 2). All 10 worms of HVR-I genotype II, three with HVR-I genotype I and one with HVR-I genotype III derived from dogs had the human type genotype at HVR-IV. Nine of the Strongyloides larvae sequenced from dogs were identical to Strongyloides procyonis (AB272234), a species known to occasionally occur in dogs [214]. In spite of the differences, the known S. stercoralis SSU sequence was the most closely related sequence in the databases, as judged by BLAST analysis to all variants except the S. procyonis ones, indicating that all these worms are very closely related with or belong to the species S. stercoralis. 67 Strongyloides larvae isolated and sequenced from pigs at HVR-I and HVR-IV

were different from *S. stercoralis* but similar to *Strongyloides ransomi* (AB453327).

Given that the larvae were sampled from people and dogs from the same households, and repeatedly worms with different genotypes were present in the same host individual, one would expect that there exists ample opportunity for worms of different genotypes to hybridize. In particular, the less frequent alleles would be expected to be present mostly in heterozygous state. However, like in a previous study [153], which was limited to human hosts, I did not find a single worm that was heterozygous for two different SSU alleles. There are two alternative explanations for these observations. Either, S. stercoralis in the current study area never reproduces sexually or productive mating occurs only within SSU genotypes. Should the latter be the case, the different SSU types would have to be considered different species. Absence of sexual reproduction may have two reasons. Firstly, the worms in this study area reproduce only through the homogonic cycle, which is nonsexual in all species of Strongyloides where it has been tested [48]. The second possible reason for the absence of sexual reproduction is that S. stercoralis may reproduce asexually also in the free-living generation.

2.3.2 Different mitochondrial *cox*1 haplotypes of *S. stercoralis* isolated from humans and dogs

Next, I asked if the different SSU genotypes of *S. stercoralis* isolates also vary at their *cox*1 mitochondrial gene sequences, which are only maternally inherited. I successfully sequenced 552 bp of the *cox*1 gene for a subset of 78 *S. stercoralis* larvae (57 from humans and 21 from dogs). The 57 larvae sequenced from humans were grouped into 7 haplotypes with pairwise nucleotides difference ranging from 0.18 to 2.71 % (Table 3). The 21 larvae sequenced from dogs were grouped into 11 haplotypes with pairwise nucleotides difference ranging from 0.54 to 6.16 %. Two of these haplotypes were identical with two of the haplotypes found in human derived worms (haplotype 2 and 3) and occurred exclusively in worms with a human type SSU haplotype. Also, all 4 dog-derived individuals with a human type SSU

49

haplotype had one of the two human type cox1 sequence variants. The pairwise nucleotides difference between the different human and dog isolates range from 0.18 to 7.61 %. The corellation between the SSU genotypes and cox1 haplotypes are given in Table 4. Next, I constructed a maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree using the different S. stercoralis cox1 haplotypes isolated from humans and dogs by MEGA6 [215]. The human and dog isolates with different haplotypes were grouped in separate clades and each clade forming two sub-clades with strong nodes (Figure 20). The dog isolates that have similar cox1 nucleotide sequences (haplotype) as in human isolates were grouped in the same clade, indicating these larvae with this haplotype could be shared between humans and dogs (zonootic). In general S. stercoralis form more diverse populations in both humans and dogs than previously thought. Also with respect to their mitochondrial genome cox1, the few worms from dogs with a "human-type" SSU haplotype were very close to human derived worms of the same SSU type. All these observations suggest that in the current study area there exists a dog-specific polulation (incapable of infecting humans) and a predominantly human specific one, which can also infect dogs.

Table 3. Pairwise nucleotide diversity between different *S. stercoralis cox*1 haplotypes from humans and dogs.

| Haplotype | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 |
|-------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|----|
| Haplotype1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype2 | 0.18 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype3 | 1.99 | 2.17 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype4 | 2.35 | 2.54 | 0.36 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype5 | 1.09 | 0.91 | 1.99 | 2.36 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype6 | 1.45 | 1.27 | 2.35 | 2.71 | 0.36 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype7 | 1.81 | 1.99 | 0.18 | 0.54 | 1.81 | 2.17 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype8 | 6.70 | 7.06 | 7.61 | 7.25 | 6.70 | 7.06 | 0.54 | | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype9 | 6.52 | 6.70 | 7.06 | 7.15 | 6.16 | 6.5 | 2.53 | 0.54 | | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype10 | 5.97 | 6.16 | 6.88 | 6.52 | 6.70 | 7.06 | 2.70 | 2.53 | 1.99 | | | | | | | |
| Haplotype11 | 5.25 | 5.43 | 6.52 | 6.16 | 5.97 | 6.34 | 6.16 | 2.72 | 2.17 | 1.63 | | | | | | |
| Haplotype12 | 3.80 | 3.98 | 5.07 | 4.35 | 4.89 | 5.25 | 6.16 | 6.16 | 6.16 | 4.89 | 4.89 | | | | | |
| Haplotype13 | 4.16 | 4.35 | 4.71 | 4.71 | 4.52 | 4.89 | 4.53 | 6.16 | 5.80 | 5.25 | 4.89 | 1.09 | | | | |
| Haplotype14 | 4.16 | 4.34 | 4.71 | 4.71 | 4.52 | 4.89 | 6.16 | 5.80 | 5.43 | 4.89 | 4.52 | 1.09 | 1.45 | | | |
| Haplotype15 | 4.16 | 4.35 | 4.71 | 4.71 | 4.52 | 4.89 | 4.53 | 6.16 | 5.80 | 4.89 | 4.89 | 1.09 | 1.45 | 0.72 | | |
| Haplotype16 | 3.80 | 3.98 | 4.34 | 4.34 | 4.16 | 4.52 | 5.80 | 5.80 | 5.43 | 4.89 | 4.52 | 1.27 | 1.27 | 1.27 | 1.27 | |

The first column shows the accession number of different haplotypes of *S. stercoralis* sequences deposited in the NCBI nucleotide database from this study. Haplotypes 1 and 4-7 were isolated from human and Haplotypes 8-16 were isolated from dogs. Haplotypes 2 and 3 were found in both hosts.

| cox1 | No. of | SS | SU ger | notypes | | | No. of lar | vae |
|-------------|--------|----|--------|---------|-------|------|------------|-----|
| haplotypes | larvae | 1 | HVR-I | | HVR- | IV | genotype | d |
| | | I | II | III | Human | Dog | Human | Dog |
| | | | | | Туре | Туре | | |
| Haplotype1 | 19 | 2 | 17 | 0 | 19 | 0 | 19 | 0 |
| Haplotype2 | 5 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 4 | 1 |
| Haplotype3 | 20 | 1 | 16 | 3 | 20 | 0 | 17 | 3 |
| Haplotype4 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 0 |
| Haplotype5 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 |
| Haplotype6 | 8 | 0 | 8 | 0 | 8 | 0 | 8 | 0 |
| Haplotype7 | 4 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 4 | 0 |
| Haplotype8 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 |
| Haplotype9 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Haplotype10 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 |
| Haplotype11 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 |
| Haplotype12 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Haplotype13 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 |
| Haplotype14 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Haplotype15 | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 3 |
| Haplotype16 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 |

Table 4. Correlation between *S. stercoralis* SSU genotypes and *cox*1 haplotypes isolated from humans and dogs.



Figure 20. Maximum-likelihood reconstruction of phylogenetic tree based on partial sequence of *cox1 S. stercoralis* isolated from humans and dogs. Necator americanus (AJ417719) served as an outgroup. In brackets are the numbers of worms that have the indicated *cox1* haplotype. The numbers with KX prefix are the GenBank accession numbers of the respective *S. stercoralis* haplotype deposited in the NCBI nucleotide database.

2.3.3 Reproduction infree-living generation of a laboratory isolate of *S. stercoralis*

Interestingly, as had been seen previously in Schär et al. [153], among the more than 450 larvae from humans and dogs genotyped, I did not find a single worm, which appeared heterozygous for two different SSU haplotypes. This indicates that the worms with different SSU haplotypes do not interbreed, either because productive mating occurs only within a haplotype group, or because S. stercoralis in this study area reproduces only non-sexually. Based on cytological observations, it was proposed for multiple species of Strongyloides [48], among them S. stercoralis [216], that the free-living generations reproduce by sperm dependent parthenogenesis (pseudogamy). However, this hypothesis was disproved for some species of Strongyloides using molecular genetic approaches. Specifically, sexual reproduction was shown to occur in the free-living generations of S. ratti [45], S. papillosus [51], and S. vituli [56], but so far not for S. stercoralis. During the sampling for the field study, I did observe free-living adults of both sexes in appreciable numbers. The free-living generations of the laboratory isolate UPD strain of S. stercoralis is capable of reproducing through the heterogonic cycle [217]. I used this isolate to address the question if reproduction in free-living stages of S. stercoralis is sexual or not. First, I tested if males are required for successful reproduction. To this end, I isolated virgin young free-living females from one-day-old fecal cultures and cultured them individually at 22°C (n=192 females) or at 25°C (n=192 females) for 3 days. None of these 384 worms produced progeny. These results indicated that males/sperm are needed to produce viable progeny in S. stercoralis. However, this finding does reproduction by sperm dependent not exclude parthenogenesis (pseudogamy) as has been proposed [216]. In order to determine if males contribute to the genetic material of the progeny, I set up crosses of single virgin females and males from one-day-old fecal cultures as described in Materials and Methods. Of 18 pair crosses, I genotyped both parents and eight of their progenies using ytP274 as a molecular genetic marker, which exists in two alleles (T or C) in the laboratory isolate (PV001) at position 231

53

of the marker. The genotyping results (Table 5) showed the inheritance of paternal alleles by the progenies with no indication for a deviation from Mendelian segregation, and with this they were inconsistent with clonal reproduction. These preliminary results, based on only a single marker, suggest that the reproduction in the free-living stages of the laboratory strain of *S. stercoralis* is sexual but we do not know yet if this is also the case for the wild isolates that I investigated. Determining if sexual reproduction occurs within SSU genotypes of wild isolates is therefore one of the most urgent questions to be addressed that arises from this study.

| Crosses | Female genotype | Male genotype | Progenies genotype |
|---------|-----------------|---------------|--------------------|
| C1 | C/T | C/T | 4C/T, 1C, 3T |
| C2 | C/T | C/T | 4C/T, 2T, 2C |
| C3 | C/T | С | 4C, 4CT |
| C4 | Т | C/T | 4C/T, 4T |
| C5 | Т | C/T | 4C/T, 4T |
| C6 | С | C/T | 5C/T, 3C |
| C7 | C/T | С | 4C/T, 4C |
| C8 | C/T | Т | 3C/T, 5T |
| C9 | Т | C/T | 4C/T, 4T |
| C10 | С | C/T | 4C/T, 4C |
| C11 | C/T | Т | 4C/T, 4T |
| C12 | C/T | C/T | 3C/T, 4C, 1T |
| C13 | C/T | C/T | 5C/T, 1C, 2T |
| C14 | C/T | C/T | 4C/T, 1C, 3T |
| C15 | C/T | С | 5C, 3C/T |
| C16 | C/T | C/T | 3C/T, 2C, 3T |
| C19 | С | C/T | 3C/T, 5C |
| C18 | Т | C/T | 6C/T, 2T |

Table 5. Genotypes of *S. stercoralis* free-living parents and their progenies using *ytP274* as a molecular genetic marker.

The first column is number of the cross, the second and third column are genotypes of mother and father. The fourth column is genotypes of all the eight progenies genotyped per crosses. The *ytP274* marker consists of a single nucleotide polymorphism T/C at position 231.

This study reports the first large-scale genotyping of *S. stercoralis* from humans and dogs collected from the same locations at the same time. The rural communities in Cambodia mostly share their premises with their animals and the general hygiene and sanitation condition is ideal for human to animal and animal to human transmission of as soil transmitted helminthes including *S. stercoralis* [36]. Based on SSU and mitochondrial *cox*1 genotypes, the *S. stercoralis* worms in the current study area fall into multiple groups, which might be separate populations. These separate populations might represent closely related species or subspecies, which parasitize the same host but are not able to interbreed or a species complex of asexually reproducing worms. Although the *Strongyloides* spp. populations in humans and dogs are largely separate, dogs do carry at low numbers but fairly high prevalence *S. stercoralis* that is indistinguishable from *S. stercoralis* in humans. This suggests that *S. stercoralis* can be transmitted between humans and dogs.

2.3.4 Contributions

I, Dr. Adrian Streit and Pro. Dr. Peter Odermatt designed this study. Fabian Schär and I collected the worm samples from humans and dogs. I performed the PCR, sequencing and sequence analyses. I wrote the manuscript with Dr. Adrian Streit. A manuscript about this work is being prepared for submission.

2.4 Genetic and phylogenetic analyses of *O. ochengi* isolates using complete mitochondrial genome sequences

2.4.1 Mitochondrial genome size, content and organization

I conducted short read whole genome sequencing experiments with 11 adult single O. ochengi worms (3 males and 8 females). The mitochondrial sequences were retrieved from these data. For two individuals, one of the mitochondrial subtype "ochengi" and one of the variant "Siisa" (c.f. [191] [190]), I manually assembled and annotated the full mitochondrial genomes. The resulting reference genomes were deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers KX181289 (variant ochengi) and KX181290 (variant Siisa). Both sequences are 13,744 bp long (Figure 21) but differ at 158 single nucleotide positions. Compared to O. volvulus (AF015193) [218] and O. flexuosa (HQ214004) [219], the O. ochengi mitochondrial genome is slightly smaller due to shorter intergenic regions. The gene content and order is the same as in O. volvulus [218]. The mitochondrial genome of O. ochengi contains 12 protein-coding genes (cox1-cox3, nad1-nad6, nad4L, atp6 and cob), 22 transfer RNA (tRNA) genes, a small subunit ribosomal RNA gene (rrnS) also called 12S, and a large subunit ribosomal RNA gene (rrnL) also called 16S, and an AT-rich 318 bp non coding region. Like all other nematodes species whose mitochondrial genomes were sequenced (except for T. spiralis [220]), O. ochengi also lacks the protein-coding gene atp8. The nucleotide compositions of the entire mitochondrial genome of O. ochengi are very A-T rich (73.22%) and there is a bias for the nucleotide T being on the coding strand. Of G-C base pairs, the G is preferentially on the coding strand. The nucleotide composition of the coding strand of the type "ochengi" reference sequence (KX181289) is: A=2607 (18.97%), T=7456 (54.25%), G=2765 (20.12%) and C=916 (6.66%) (Table 6).



Figure 21. The mitochondrial genome of *O. ochengi* (KX181289). All genes are transcribed clockwise. Protein-coding and rRNA genes are indicated with the standard nomenclature. The tRNA genes are indicated with the one-letter code of their corresponding amino acids. There are two tRNA genes for Leucine: L1 for codons CUN and L2 for UUR; and two tRNA genes for Serine: S1 for codons UCN and S2 for AGN. "NCR" refers to the non-coding region.

| Genes | Positions | Lengths | Start codons | Stop codons | Anticodons |
|-------------|-------------|---------|--------------|----------------|------------|
| cox1 | 1-647 | 1647 bp | ATT | TAA | |
| tRNA(W) | 1656-1711 | 56 bp | | | TCA |
| nad6 | 1758-2207 | 450 bp | ATT | TAG | |
| tRNA(R) | 2214-2269 | 56 bp | | | ACG |
| tRNA(Q) | 2272-2325 | 54 bp | | | TTG |
| cob | 2329-3411 | 1083 bp | ATT | TAA | |
| tRNA(L:CUN) | 3413-3468 | 56 bp | | | TAG |
| cox3 | 3468-4247 | 780 bp | ATT | TAA | |
| NCR | 4248-4565 | 318 bp | | | |
| tRNA(A) | 4566-4623 | 58 bp | | | TGC |
| tRNA(L:UUR) | 4627-4682 | 56 bp | | | TAA |
| tRNA(N) | 4676-4732 | 57 bp | | | GTT |
| tRNA(M) | 4747-4810 | 64 bp | | | CAT |
| tRNA(K) | 4810-4868 | 59 bp | | | CTT |
| nad4L | 4868-5110 | 243 bp | TTG | TAA | |
| rrnS | 5111-5794 | 684 bp | | | |
| tRNA(Y) | 5788-5846 | 59 bp | | | GTA |
| nad1 | 5844-6743 | 900 bp | TTG | TAG | |
| tRNA(F) | 6721-6779 | 59 bp | | | GAA |
| atp6 | 6780-7364 | 585 bp | ATT | TAG | |
| tRNA(I) | 7378-7433 | 56 bp | | | GAT |
| tRNA(G) | 7439-7496 | 58 bp | | | TCC |
| cox2 | 7499-8197 | 699 bp | ATT | TAA | |
| tRNA(H) | 8196-8258 | 63 bp | | | GTG |
| rrnL | 8256-9227 | 972 bp | | | |
| nad3 | 9228-9566 | 339 bp | CTT | TAG | |
| tRNA(C) | 9568-9624 | 57 bp | | | GCA |
| tRNA(S:UCN) | 9624-9678 | 55 bp | | | TGA |
| tRNA(P) | 9689-9747 | 59 bp | | | AGG |
| tRNA(D) | 9751-9814 | 64 bp | | | GTC |
| tRNA(V) | 9816-9871 | 56 bp | | | TAC |
| nad5 | 9872-11467 | 1596 bp | TTG | TAG | |
| tRNA(E) | 11480-11536 | 57 bp | | | TTC |
| tRNA(S-AGN) | 11536-11592 | 57 bp | | | тст |
| nad2 | 11588-12439 | 852 bp | ATT | TAG | |
| tRNA(T) | 12447-12505 | 59 bp | | | TGT |
| nad4 | 12505-13737 | 1233 bp | TTG | TAA | |

Table 6. Positions and nucleotide sequence lengths of mitochondrial genes in *O. ochengi* (KX181289 and KX181290).

For protein coding genes, the initiation and the termination codons and for tRNA genes the anticodons are indicated.

| Amino Acid | Codon | Number | Codon Frequency |
|------------|-------|--------|--------------------|
| Ala | GCG | 6 | 0.173 |
| | GCA | 3 | 0.086 |
| | GCT | 75 | 2.16 |
| Cys | TGT | 98 | 2.82 |
| - | TGC | 3 | 0.086 |
| Asp | GAT | 83 | 2.40 |
| - | GAC | 3 | 0.086 |
| Glu | GAG | 41 | 1.20 |
| | GAA | 23 | 0.66 |
| Phe | TTT | 634 | 18.3 |
| | TTC | 4 | 0.115 |
| Gly | GGG | 34 | 0.98 |
| | GGA | 17 | 0.49 |
| | GGT | 191 | 5.50 |
| | GGC | 0 | 0.173 |
| HIS | CAT | 20 | 1.44 |
| The | ATT | 176 | 0.080 |
| 110 | ATC | 5 | 0.144 |
| Lvs | AAG | 67 | 1 03 |
| 293 | AAA | 0 | 0.26 |
| Leu | TTG | 311 | 8.96 |
| 2.04 | TTA | 137 | 3.95 |
| | CTG | 3 | 0.086 |
| | CTA | 1 | 0.03 |
| | CTT | 23 | 0.66 |
| | CTC | 1 | 0.03 |
| Met | ATG | 111 | 13.71 |
| | ATA | 30 | 3.20 |
| Asn | AAT | 79 | 2.30 |
| _ | AAC | 4 | 0.115 |
| Pro | CCG | 6 | 0.173 |
| | CCA | 2 | 0.0576 |
| C1- | 001 | 08 | 1.90 |
| Gin | CAG | 38 | 1.095 |
| | CAA | 15 | 0.37 |
| Arg | CGG | 10 | 0.228 |
| | CGA | 1 | 0.03 |
| | 001 | 74 | 1.21 |
| | CGC | 1 | 0.03 |
| Ser | AGG | 23 | 0.66 |
| | AGA | 14 | 0.40 |
| | AGT | 113 | 5.26 |
| | AGC | 4 | 0.11 |
| | TCA | 2 | 0.14 |
| | TCT | 150 | 4.58 |
| Thr | ACG | 2 | 0.0576 |
| | ACA | 2 | 0.0576 |
| | ACT | 83 | 2.40 |
| Val | GTG | 44 | 1.30 |
| | GTA | 24 | 0.69 |
| | GTT | 263 | 7.58 |
| | GTC | 2 | 0.0576 |
| Ттр | TGG | 45 | 1.30 |
| | TGA | 31 | 0.89 |
| Тут | TAT | 222 | 6.40 |
| | TAC | 4 | 0.11 |
| Stop | TAG | 6 | 0.176 |
| | TAA | 7 | 0.20 |

Table 7. Codon usages of the 12 protein-coding genes in the mitochondrial genome of *O. ochengi* (KX181289).

2.4.1.1 Protein-coding genes

The *O. ochengi* mitochondrial genome encodes 12 protein-coding genes. All *O. ochengi* mitochondrial genes are transcribed in the clockwise direction. The order of the protein coding genes of *O. ochengi* is: *cox*1->*nad*6->cob>*cox*3->*nad*4L->*nad*1->*atp*6->*cox*2->*nad*3->*nad*5->*nad*2->*nad*4 (Figure 18 and Table 6). The predicted translation initiation and termination codons for the 12 protein coding genes of *O. ochengi* are given in Table 6. The most common initiation codon for *O. ochengi* was ATT (7 of 12 protein genes), followed by TTG (4 of 12 protein genes) and CTT (1 of 12 protein genes). The termination codons TAA and TAG were used each six times. A total of 3,457 amino acids are encoded by the *O. ochengi* mitochondrial genome. The A+T percentage of protein coding genes of *O. ochengi* ranges from 66.85 % to 79.01 % (Table 8).

All codons are used except for Ala (GCC), Pro (CCC), Ser (TCC), and Thr (ACC), which is consistent with the strong bias against the C nucleotide. Codons composed of A and T nucleotides are predominantly used, reflecting the very strong bias toward A+T in the mitochondrial genome of *O. ochengi*. The codon usages in the mitochondrial genome of *O. ochengi* (KX181289) are given in Table 7. The most frequently used codons are Phe (TTT: 18.03%), followed by Leu (TTG: 8.96%), Val (GTT: 7.58%), Tyr (TAT: 6.40%), Gly (GGT: 5.50%), Ile (ATT: 5.07%) and Ser (TCT: 4.58%). The least utilized codons are Leu (CTA and CTC) and Arg (CGA and CGC), each codon used only once.

Table 8. Nucleotide compositions, SNPs and pairwise nucleotide differences in the whole mitochondrial genome of *O. ochengi* (KX181289) and (KX181290).

| Gene/ Region | 0. oche | engi (KX | 181289 |) | | 0. oche | engi (KX | (181290) |) | | SNPs | Nucleotide Difference |
|-----------------|---------|----------|--------|-------|-------|---------|----------|----------|-------|-------|------|--------------------------|
| | %A | %C | %Т | %G | %A+T | %A | %C | %Т | %G | %A+T | | % |
| cox1 | 18.86 | 11.07 | 48.05 | 22.02 | 66.91 | 18.86 | 11.19 | 47.99 | 21.96 | 66.85 | 17 | 1.03 |
| nad6 | 14.67 | 2.89 | 63.33 | 19.11 | 78.00 | 14.22 | 3.11 | 63.11 | 19.56 | 77.33 | 7 | 1.56 |
| cob | 18.93 | 8.13 | 54.02 | 18.93 | 72.95 | 18.84 | 7.94 | 54.20 | 19.02 | 73.04 | 15 | 1.39 |
| cox3 | 20.51 | 6.54 | 51.54 | 21.41 | 72.05 | 20.13 | 6.41 | 51.67 | 21.79 | 71.79 | 14 | 1.80 |
| nad4L | 13.58 | 2.88 | 64.61 | 18.93 | 78.19 | 13.99 | 2.47 | 65.02 | 18.52 | 79.01 | 2 | 0.82 |
| nad1 | 12.67 | 7.78 | 57.00 | 22.56 | 69.67 | 13.00 | 7.89 | 56.89 | 22.22 | 69.89 | 14 | 1.56 |
| atp6 | 14.70 | 5.98 | 57.09 | 22.22 | 71.79 | 15.56 | 6.32 | 56.58 | 21.54 | 72.14 | 10 | 1.71 |
| cox2 | 20.60 | 8.15 | 47.21 | 24.03 | 67.81 | 20.60 | 8.30 | 47.35 | 23.75 | 67.95 | 8 | 1.44 |
| nad3 | 15.04 | 3.54 | 61.95 | 19.47 | 76.99 | 14.16 | 3.54 | 61.95 | 20.35 | 76.11 | 3 | 0.88 |
| nad5 | 13.22 | 6.08 | 59.71 | 20.99 | 72.93 | 13.47 | 6.14 | 59.59 | 20.80 | 73.06 | 21 | 1.32 |
| nad2 | 14.44 | 4.11 | 60.45 | 21.01 | 74.88 | 14.08 | 4.23 | 60.33 | 21.36 | 74.41 | 8 | 0.94 |
| nad4 | 15.09 | 5.60 | 58.72 | 20.60 | 73.80 | 15.17 | 5.84 | 58.56 | 20.44 | 73.72 | 11 | 0.89 |
| rrnS | 25.73 | 7.31 | 48.54 | 18.42 | 74.27 | 25.58 | 7.31 | 48.68 | 18.42 | 74.27 | 6 | 0.87 |
| rrnL | 25.41 | 5.55 | 51.65 | 17.39 | 77.06 | 25.31 | 5.92 | 51.23 | 17.59 | 76.54 | 9 | 0.93 |
| NCR | 35.85 | 6.29 | 47.17 | 10.69 | 83.02 | 35.22 | 6.60 | 47.48 | 10.69 | 82.70 | 7 | 2.20 |
| EMG | 18.97 | 6.66 | 54.25 | 20.12 | 73.22 | 18.97 | 6.74 | 54.20 | 20.10 | 73.17 | 158 | 1.15 |

NCR and EMG stand for "non-coding regions" and "entire mitochondrial genome" respectively.

2.4.1.2 Ribosomal and transfer RNA genes

The rrnS and rrnL genes of O. ochengi were identified based on their sequence similarities with O. volvulus. The rrnS and rrnL are located between nad4L and tRNA (Y) and tRNA (H) and nad3 respectively. The length of the rrnS and rrnL genes of O. ochengi are 684 and 972 bp respectively (Table 6). The A+T content of rrnS and rrnL are 74.27 % and 77.06 % respectively (Table 8). A total of 22 tRNA sequences (vary in length from 55 to 64 bp) were identified in the mitochondrial genome of O. ochengi. The predicted secondary structures (not shown here) and locations of the O. ochengi tRNAs were the same as in O. volvulus [218]. Twenty of the 22 mitochondrial tRNA genes share a common secondary structure in which the TWC arm and the variable loop are exchanged with a TV-replacement loops [221]. Two serine tRNA genes (S: UCN and S: AGN) contain typical D replacement loops [221]. In the mitochondrial genome of O. ochengi, some tRNA genes overlap with the adjacent genes. Five mitochondrial tRNA sequences overlap with the start of protein coding genes by 1-5 nucleotides (tRNA(L: CUN)-cox3, tRNA(K)nad4L, tRNA(Y)-*nad*1, tRNA(S:AGN)-nad2, tRNA(T)-nad4). Two

mitochondrial tRNA sequences overlap with the end of protein coding genes by 2–23 nucleotides (*nad*1-tRNA(F) and *cox*2- tRNA(H)). Two tRNAs, tRNA(Y) and tRNA(H) overlap with *rrnS* and *rrnL* by 7 and 3 nucleotides respectively. Three pairs of *O. ochengi* tRNAs share 1-7 nucleotides overlap with each other (tRNA(L:UUR)-tRNA(N), tRNA(C)-tRNA(S:UCN) and tRNA(E)- tRNA(S:AGN)).

2.4.1.3 Non-coding sequences

A 318 bp long AT rich (83.02%) non-coding region is located between the *cox*3 and the tRNA(A) genes. There are also 19 short intergenic regions varying in length from one to 46 bp. The longest of them (46 bp) is located between tRNA(E) and *nad*6.

2.4.2 Sequence comparsion of mitochoderial genes

First, I performed a pairwise sequence comparison between the reference sequences for the two-mitochondrial clades. The results for the entire mitochondrial genome as well as separate comparisons of the protein coding genes, ribosomal RNA genes and the NCR are presented in Table 8. Overall; the two sequences differ at 158 positions (1.15%). Next, I conducted pairwise sequence comparisons between the 11 *Onchocerca* individuals from this study and the published sequences of *O. volvulus* (AF015193), *O. gutturosa* (unpublished) and O. *flexuosa* (HQ214004) (Table 9). Since for some of these no fully assembled mitochondrial genomes are available, this comparison was limited to protein coding genes. The pairwise nucleotide diversities within the species *O. ochengi* range from 0.029% to 1.36%. The samples fall into two groups confirming the existence of the two mitochondrial clades "ochengi" and "Siisa".

Among the 9 "ochengi" type individuals, the pairwise nucleotide diversities were between 0.029% and 0.211%. The pairwise nucleotide diversity between the two type "Siisa" individuals was 0.144%. The pairwise nucleotide diversity between the two-mitochondrial clades ranges between 1.25% and 1.29%.

Among the protein-coding genes, *cox*3, *nad*1, *nad*6 and *cox*2 would be suitable candidate loci for future population genetics studies, as they were the most variable between the *Onchocerca* isolates in the current study. The pairwise nucleotide diversities between the protein coding genes of *O*. *ochengi* and *O*. *volvulus*, *O*. *gutturosa* and *O*. *flexuosa* are around 3.3%, 7.1% and 10.3% respectively (Table 9).

Table 9. Pairwise nucleotides diversity between the 12 protein coding mitochonderial genes of *Onchocerca* spp.

| Onchocerca sp. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 |
|--------------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|----|
| 0. ochengi F1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F2 | 0.096 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F3 | 0.048 | 0.048 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F4 | 0.096 | 0.048 | 0.038 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F6 | 0.086 | 0.067 | 0.057 | 0.076 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F7 | 0.067 | 0.086 | 0.038 | 0.096 | 0.096 | | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi F8 | 0.105 | 0.029 | 0.057 | 0.057 | 0.076 | 0.096 | | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi M2 | 0.211 | 0.182 | 0.172 | 0.190 | 0.172 | 0.192 | 0.192 | | | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi M3 | 0.086 | 0.029 | 0.057 | 0.038 | 0.076 | 0.076 | 0.038 | 0.172 | | | | | | |
| <i>O. ochengi F5</i> (Siisa type) | 1.29 | 1.27 | 1.24 | 1.29 | 1.28 | 1.28 | 1.28 | 1.36 | 1.28 | | | | | |
| 0. ochengi M1 (Siisa type) | 1.28 | 1.26 | 1.25 | 1.27 | 1.27 | 1.27 | 1.28 | 1.34 | 1.23 | 0.144 | | | | |
| 0. volvulus | 3.29 | 3.28 | 3.30 | 3.30 | 3.32 | 3.32 | 3.27 | 3.37 | 3.285 | 3.34 | 3.33 | | | |
| 0. gutturosa | 7.133 | 7.114 | 7.133 | 7.114 | 7.114 | 7.15 | 7.114 | 7.21 | 7.114 | 7.133 | 7.133 | 7.31 | | |
| 0. flexuosa | 10.28 | 10.26 | 10.27 | 10.28 | 10.29 | 10.26 | 10.24 | 10.32 | 10.24 | 10.25 | 10.27 | 10.17 | 10.07 | |

In the first column *are: 11 O. ochengi* isolates from this study, *O. volvulus* (AF015193) and *O. gutturosa* (unpublished sequence obtained from M. Blaxter, University of Edinbourgh) and *O. flexuosa* (HQ214004).The numbers are pairwise percentage nucleotide differences.

2.4.3 Phylogenetic analysis

From previous molecular genetic data based on nuclear SNP markers it was concluded that the two mitochondrial types interbreed freely and therefore belong to the same species [191]. On the other hand, *O. ochnegi* and *O. volvulus* are well-accepted different species as they are most probably not able to interbreed due to different chromosome numbers. *O. ochengi* has 2n=5 chromosomes and *O. volvulus* has 2n=4 chromosomes, possibly after loosing one pair of its chromosome due to chromosome fusion [25][222]. Somewhat puzzlingly, earlier studies [190][191] which were based on rather little sequence information, found the mitochondrial types "ochengi" and "Siisa" to be about equally distant from each other as either of them is from *O.*
volvulus. To resolve this, I conducted phylogenetic analyses of all the 11 *O. ochengi* individuals and 11 other Spirurida nematodes using Maximum Likelihood (ML) based on concatenated mitochondrial amino acid sequences of 12 protein-coding genes (Figure 22). This phylogenetic analysis clearly confirms the presence of the two mitochondrial clades "ochengi" and "Siisa", which are much more closely related to each other than either of them is to *O. volvulus.*



Figure 22. Maximum-likelihood reconstruction of a phylogenetic tree based on the amino acid sequences of 12 protein-coding mitochondrial genes. Included are the sequences of the 11 adult *O. ochengi* from this study and the sequences of three other species of *Onchocerca* and of 8 other Spirurida nematodes of variable phylogenetic distance to *O. ochengi*. F and M stands for *O. ochengi* females and males, respectively.

It was hypothesized that O. volvulus and O. ochengi evolved from a common ancestor after humans acquired this infection from their cows upon cattle domestication in Africa about 10,000 years ago [24]. Usually, the pairwise nucleotide difference between the mitochondrial genomes of two interbreeding strains of the same species of nematodes is up to 6%, whereas between different species it is usually more than 10% [223]. The pairwise nucleotide difference of about 1.3% between the two-mitochondrial clades of O. ochengi is well in the range of expected mitochondrial genome sequence variation within the same species. Interestingly, the pairwise nucleotide difference between O. volulus and O. ochengi of only 3.3% is within the range of what would be expected for within-species variation in nematodes. This further supports the hypothesis that O. ochengi and O. volvulus are two closely related sister species, and therefore O. ochengi in cattle is a suitable animal model for many aspects of the biology, although not the pathology, of O. volulus, the causative agent of human onchocerciasis also called river blindness [188].

2.4.4 Contributions

I designed this study with input from Dr. Adrian Streit. Dr Alfons Renz provided adults *Onchocerca* worm samples in nodules. I isolated the adults' worms from the nodules by collagenase digestion. I extracted genomic DNA from individual worms. I extracted genomic DNA from individual worms and prepared the genomic DNA libraries for sequencing. The sequencing was done in the in house sequencing service facility. Dr. Christian Rödelsperger did all the bioinformatic analyses. I and Dr Adrian Streit wrote the manuscript. A manuscript about this work is in preparation for submission.

3. Materials and Methods

- 3.1 Culture and isolation of the parasites
- 3.1.1 Strongyloides ratti

Strongyloides ratti strain ED321 was used in these experiments [224]. For the characterization of the infection dynamics, four weeks old male wistar rats and gerbils were purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany). Four rats and four gerbils were subcutaneously inoculated with about 500 iL3s as described [224]. The animals of the same species were housed together. Starting from six days after infection, feces were collected overnight from the animals by placing them in caches underneath lined with wet paper towels at room temperature for five days per week until no worms were detected in the feces in two consecutive samples (four weeks in the rats or two months in the gerbils). From gerbils, after two months, feces were collected once a month from the gerbils until no worms were detected anymore (infections in the gerbils lasted for about 6 months). During the first 4 weeks and 8 weeks of infections for rats and gerbils respectively, fecal samples were split in half and one part incubated at 19°C and the other part at 22°C for 48 hours. In the gerbils 8 weeks post infection, the entire samples were incubated at 19°C. The worms were recovered from the cultures using Baermann technique [225]. Total worm outputs and total worm sex ratios (the number of iL3s (from the homogonic cycle) and free-living females and males) were determined from feces cultured at different temperature for each group of animals. The same experiment, as described above was repeated with different host animals purchased at a different time, infected with different batch of iL3s resulting in two independent biological replicates.

For the determination of worm burdens, other groups of male rats and gerbils each with four animals were infected with 500 iL3 as described above. The total worm output was determined on days 6, 8 and 11 after infections. The

66

animals were sacrificed on the 12th day after infection. The small intestines were dissected from the rats, slit longitudinally and then carefully washed with Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The cleaned intestinal tissues were spread inside down over wire mesh placed on top of Bearmann funnel filled with prewarmed PBS and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C according to method described by Harvey et al. [195]. Parasitic females were then handpicked from the sediment with a worm pick and washed in fresh PBS at least two times, before being counted and then stored at -80 °C in TRIzol (Ambion, USA) for total RNA extraction used in RNA-Seq experiments. The same experiment as described above was repeated with host animals purchased at a different time and with a different batch of iL3s. The worms from the four animals of each group were pooled for RNA isolation resulting in two biological replicates. The rats were kept in Techniplast type 4 cages with elevated tops in an in-house animal facility, which is subject to regular inspections by the veterinary authorities of Tübingen (Veterinäramt Tübingen). All experiments with animals were in accordance with national and international animal wellfare legislation and guidelines. The permits were granted by the Regierungspräsidium Tübingen (AZ35/9185.82-5).

3.1.2 Strongyloides papillosus

The *S. papillosus* isolate LIN, originally isolated from sheep and maintained in rabbits [51] was used this experiment. Pathogen-free female rabbits (New Zealand White) purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Sulzfeld, Germany) were used to raise the parasite. The rabbits were subcutaneously inoculated with about 2000 infective larvae (iL3) [51]. Starting ten days post infection (p.i), the feces were collected overnight, mixed with sawdust and cultured at 25°C as described [51]. Worms of different developmental stages were isolated after the times specified below using the Baermann technique as described [51]. Stage 1 and 2 larvae (L1/L2) derived from parasitic adults females were isolated after 8 hours of culture. Free-living males and females were collected after 28 hours of culture. L1/L2, which were progenies of free living generations were collected after 48 hours of culture. To isolate iL3s, the culture dishes were placed in larger dishes with water as described [51] and after 7 days of culture the iL3s that had crawled into the water were collected.

These larvae were a mixture of iL3s from the direct and the indirect cycle. The isolate LIN, when kept in rabbits, has a strong tendency towards the indirect cycle [51] such that the majority of the iL3s were the progeny of free-living animals. At 22 days p.i, the rabbits were sacrificed to harvest the parasitic adults. The small intestines were dissected from the rabbits, its contents removed, slit longitudinally and carefully washed with PBS. The cleaned intestinal tissues were spread inside down over wire mesh placed on top of Bearmann funnel, filled with PBS and incubated at 37 °C for 3 hours according to method described by Harvey et al. [195]. The worms were then handpicked from the sediment of Baermann funnel, washed with PBS, counted and stored at -80 °C in TRIzol reagent (Ambion, CA, USA). All animal experiments were in accordance with national and international animal wellfare guidelines and legislation. The rabbits were kept in an in-house animal facility, which is regularly inspected by the local authorities (Veterinäramt Tübingen). The granted permits were by the Regierungspräsidium Tübingen (AZ35/9185.82-5).

3.1.3 Strongyloides stercoralis

This project was performed in collaboration with Prof. Dr. Peter Odermatt and his group from the Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute at Basel, Switzerland and the group of Dr. Sinuon Muth from the National Center for Parasitology, Enthomology and Malaria Control at Phnom Penh, Cambodia. Stool samples were collected from humans and dogs in the same household in Anlong Svay and Chom Long villages, which are rural communities in Northern Cambodia. S. stercoralis larvae were isolated according to methods described by Schär et al. [153]. Briefly, stool samples were collected for two consecutive days from each member of the household who agreed to participate in the study. All the fecal samples collected from humans were analyzed within 3 hours after collection using Baermann and Kato-Katz methods [153]. The sediment from each sample was checked with a microscope and samples positive for S. stercoralis larvae were preserved in 70% alcohol in eppendorf tubes. Fecal samples were collected from dogs, pigs and cats from S. stercoralis positive households with the help of owners and field workers. On the day of collection, about 3 g of feces was placed on a

freshly prepared agar plates from each sample and incubated for 36 hours at 28°C to allow *S. stercoralis* larvae to develop to adults and migrate onto the agar. Then the plates were examined under the microscope for the presence of moving larvae or free-living adults. Positive plates were washed with 70 % alcohol and the worms were collected in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes. All the samples collected from humans and animals were transported to the Max Planck Institute for Developmental Biology at Tübingen, Germany for molecular taxonomy. This experiment was conducted by the approval of the National Ethics Committee for Health Research (NECHR), Ministry of Health, Cambodia and the ethics committee of the cantons of Basel-Stadt and Basel-Land (EKBB), Switzerland. All participants were informed on the study procedures and provided written informed consent prior to enrolment. All data handled was strictly confidential. Individuals positive for *S. stercoralis* were treated with Ivermectin (200 μ g/kg BW over two days).

3.1.4 Onchocerca ochengi

Several skin nodules containing adult *Onchocerca* worms were collected from different cattle in Ngaoundéré abattoir, Adamawa Region, Cameroon [27]. The nodules were stored in 80% ethanol and shipped to the Max Planck Institute for Developmental Biology in Tübingen for molecular analyses. 3 adult males and 8 adult females (9 *O. ochengi* and 2 *Onchocerca* spp. Siisa) were used in the current analyses.

3.2 RNA isolations and RNA-Seq library preparation

S ratti and *S. papillosus* frozen in TRIzol (see above) were thawed, vortexed and refrozen in liquid Nitrogen at least three times. Then total RNA was isolated using standard TRIzol extraction method according to the manufacturer's instructions (Ambion Inc., USA). The integrity of the RNA was verified by gel electrophoresis and the concentration was quantified using Qubit fluorimeter measurement (Invitrogen Inc., USA). RNA-Seq libraries were prepared from one μg of total RNA using TruSeq RNA Library preparation kit v2 (Illumina Inc., USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. The libraries were quantified with Qubit® 2.0 (Invitrogen Inc., USA) and Bionalyzer (Agilent Inc., USA) and then normalized to 5 nM. Paired end sequencing was done in one multiplexed lane using HiSeq2000 platforms (Illumina Inc., USA) at the in-house genome center.

3.3 DNA isolation and DNA-Seq libraries preparations

Adult O. ochngi worms were isolated from the nodule tissue by collagenase digestion as described by Kläger et al. [187]. Briefly, nodules were incubated at 37 °C overnight in 0.2% collagenase with PBS solution and then washed several times with PBS. DNA was extracted from single worms using the Epicenter DNA extraction kit (Epicenter, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA was quantified using Qubit fluorimeter measurement (Invitrogen Life Technologies, USA). Before library preparation, partial cox1, 12S, and 16S were amplified using the primer pairs reported earlier [191] and sequenced using one of the primers used for the amplification. The partial cox1, 12S and 16S were blast-aligned against the NCBI nucleotide database to determine if the worms were O. ochengi or Onchocerca spp. Siisa according to the published in the sense of the older literature [24][190][191]. The DNA libraries were prepared using the Low Input DNA library preparation kit (Rubicon Genomics, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions from 50 ng of genomic DNA. The libraries were quantified using Qubit and Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, USA) and then normalized to 2.5 nM. The samples were sequenced as paired ends in one multiplexed lane using HiSeq2000 platform (Illumina Inc, USA) at the Max Planck Institute for Developmental Biology in-house genome facility.

3.4 Molecular genotyping of S. stercoralis single larvae

Single worm crude DNA preparations from ethanol-fixed samples were performed in PCR tubes [51] as follows: Single larvae were picked and washed two times with PBS and then incubated in 10 μ l 1X lysis buffer (20

mM Tris-HCl pH 8. 3, 100 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl2, 0.9 % NP-40, 0.9 % Tween 20, 0.02 % Gelatine, 240 µg/ml Proteinase K) at 65 °C for 2hrs, followed by incubation at 95 °C for 15 min. 25 µl reaction volume PCR were prepared using: 2.5 µl of 10X ThermoPol Reaction buffer (New England BioLabs), 0.5 µl of 2mM dNTPS, 0.5 µl of 10 mM of each reverse and forward primers (specified below), 1.25 units Tag DNA polymerase (New England BioLabs), 2 µl of worm lysate as template and 20.7 µl of nuclease free water. The thermocycling conditions were: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 35 cycles of 94 °C for 30 sec, 55°C for 15 sec, 72 °C for 2 min, and a post amplification final extension at 72°C for 10 min followed by cooling to 4 °C. Five µl of the PCR products were used for 2% agarose gel electrophoresis and visualized with ethidium bromide to analyze the PCR fragments. 0.5 µl of PCR product were used for sequencing with the primers indicated below. The sequencing reactions were done using the BigDye® Terminator v3.1 Cycle sequencing Kit according to the manufacture's protocol (Applied Biosystems, USA) and sequenced at the in house sequencing facility.

The HVR-I of the SSU was amplified using primers RH5401 and RH5402. The PCR products were sequenced using primer RH5403. A 420 bp fragment of the sequence was used for the analyses because this region is usually invariable in the same species of nematodes and was used for molecular taxonomy in other studies [226][227]. However, there wer reports of polymorphisms within S. stercoralis at two positions: stretch of Ts starting at position 176 consisted of either 4Ts or 5Ts and at position 458 a T or an A compared to the reference sequence AF279916 [121][153]. The HVR-IV of the SSU was amplified using the primer pair 18SP4F and 18SPCR and sequenced using primer 18SP4F. A 620 bp fragment of the sequences was used for the analysis. In Strongyloides spp. HVR-IV had been described to vary between species of Strongyloides, but not normally within the same species [121][153] and it was recommended for species diagnosis [121][153]. A portion of the mitochondrial gene *cox*1 was amplified using the primer pair TJ5207 and TJ5208 and sequenced using TJ5207. A 522 bp of the sequences was used for the analysis. All primer sequences are given in

71

appendix 1. The sequences of the nuclear and mitochondrial markers used are given in Appendix 2-4.

3.5 Crossing free-living stages of S. stercoralis

This experiment was done in the laboratory of Prof. Dr. James B. Lok at the School of Veterinary Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, USA. For this study the *S. stercoralis* laboratory isolate UPD and the isofemale line PV001, which is derived from UPD were used. Both lines were maintained in prednisolone treated (immuno-suppressed) dogs at the School of Veterinary Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, USA in accordance with protocols 702342, 801905, and 802593 from the University of Pennsylvania Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). Feces were collected overnight and mixed with charcoal and cultured as previously described [226] and incubated at 22 °C unless specified differently.

To determine if free-living females are able to produce viable progeny without males the worms were harvested from one-day-old fecal cultures using Baermann funnels and 192 (virgin) L3-L4 females were placed individually in 24 well plates containing NGM agar spotted with 30 µl OP50 incubated at 22 °C for 72 hours and the rest at 25 °C for 72 hours. Then the cultures were checked for the presence of viable progeny produced by the unmated females. Another 192 females were isolated from fecal cultures that had been incubated at 25 °C and treated the same except that they were incubated at 25 °C throughout the experiment.

For the crossing experiment, L3-L4 male and female larvae were isolated by the Bearmann method. Single (virgin) females and males were handpicked and transferred in male-female pairs on 6 cm NGM plates spotted with 50 μ l of OP50 and 20 μ l of water taken from a bermann funnel and incubated at 22 °C for 24 hrs. From pairs, where the female contained developing embryos in the uterus, the males were transferred into PCR tube containing 10 μ l of lysis buffer (see above) and frozen and stored at -20 °C for single worm crude DNA extraction as described above. The females were left on the agar plates until

all the eggs were laid and then the females were picked into a separate PCR tube with lyses buffer and frozen and stored at -20 °C. After all the eggs had hatched, all the L1/L2s were transferred individually into separate PCR tubes with lysis buffer and frozen and stored at -20 °C. Single worm crude DNA extractions and single worm PCR was performed as described above [51]. Genotyping was done for 36 parents from 18 crosses and eight progenies (144 larvae) from each cross, using *ytP274 as* molecular genetic marker (see appendix5).

3.6 Data and sequences analyses

3.6.1 Strongyloides ratti infections and transcriptomics

The nightly worm output count and parasitic worm burden in both hosts were expressed as mean per animal \pm one standard deviation. The male to female ratio was calculated by dividing total number of males by the total number of females (free-living and iL3s) per culture. The differences in overall worm output and overall proportion of males produced were evaluated statistically using a Student t-test in Microsoft Excel. Comparative analyses of *S. ratti* parasitic adults RNA-Seq datasets were done by aligning raw reads to the *S. ratti* reference genome (version 4, which was obtained together with gene annotations from collaborators at the Welcome Trust Sanger Institute [11] using Tophat (version 2.0.3). Estimation of expression levels and identification of differentially expressed genes was done by Cufflinks and Cuffdiff (version 2.0.1) [228]. Both biological replicates were analyzed separately and for the final analysis, differentially expressed genes that showed significant differences (FDR corrected P-value <0.05) in both replicates were considered.

3.6.2 Strongyloides papillosus transcriptomics

Sequencing reads were preprocessed using Trimmomatic [229] to remove adapters and trim low quality reads. Preprocessed reads were aligned to the *S. papillosus* reference genome (PRJEB525) using Tophat version 2 [230], followed by expression level estimation using Cufflinks [229]. Differentially expressed genes were identified by all possible pairwise comparisons of the samples using Cuffdiff. Genes with logFC greater than 1 or less than -1 with FDR (false discovery rate) less than 0.05 were treated as differentially expressed genes. Protein domain annotation of *S. papillosus* protein sequences was carried out using the hmmsearch program and the PFAM domain database obtained from the HMMER package (Version 3.0). Domain enrichment analysis of differentially expressed genes was done in R version 3.2.5 and statistical significance (FDR < 0.05) was determined using a Fisher exact test. Multiple sequence alignments were generated using Clustal omega [231]. Ambiguously aligned sequences were removed and the multiple sequence alignment of the two protein families was corrected manually. In order to determine the homology relationship of *S. papillosus* genes, the *S. ratti* gene annotation (PRJEB125) was downloaded from WormBase (WBPS4) and classification of genes into different homology classes were preformed using orthomcl [196].

3.6.3 Onchocerca ochengi mitochondrial genome analyses

The mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) was extracted from the whole genome sequences for all the eleven Onchocerca worm samples [62]. The extracted sequences were assembled manually and aligned to the complete mitochondrial genome sequence of O. volvulus (AF015193) [218] using MUSCLE [232] and assembled using SeqBuilder (DNASTAR, Inc). The protein coding genes and the two ribosomal RNA (rRNA) of the O. ochengi mtDNA were identified based on the O. volvulus mitochondrialprotein coding genes [218]. The codon usages of 12 protein genes were examined using the invertebrate mitochondrial genetic code [215] and the nucleotide composition of codon families and amino acid occurrence frequencies were computed [233]. The tRNA genes were identified by ARWEN v1.2 [221] using the metazoan mitochondrial tRNA sequences as source. The analyses of the pairwise nucleotide difference of 12 protein-coding genes of the eleven Onchocerca isolates from cattle (this study), O. volvulus (AF015193), O. gutturosa (unpublished) and O. flexuosa (HQ214004) were done by MEGA6 [215]. Nucleotide sequences alignment containing all the eleven Onchocerca isolates were generated using the MUSCLE algorithm [232]. The nucleotide alignment was checked for SNPs and the Indels were removed from the

74

dataset. Protein coding genes pairwise nucleotide diversity was calculated between the isolates using Mega6 [215].

3.6.4 *Strongyloides stercoralis* single worm sequence analyses

The sequence data obtained from single worm genotyping of *S. stercoralis* from humans and dogs were blasted against the NCBI nucleotide database to confirm the species identification. The sequences were aligned using SeqMan Pro version 12 (DNAStar Inc., USA) and compared to the SSU reference sequence (AF279916) to find sequence differences (SNPs and Indels). The sequences of *ytP274* of parent and progenies in the crossing experiment were analyzed mannually by visually inspecting each chromatograph at position 231. If only a signal for T or only for C was present the worm was scored as homozygous for the respective nucleotide, if two ovelapping signals were present the worm was scored as heterozygous.

3.6.5 Phylogenetic analyses

3.6.5.1 Strongyloides papillosus gene family trees

Multiple sequence alignments were generated using Clustal omega [231]. Ambiguously aligned sequences were removed and the multiple sequence alignment of the two protein families was corrected manually. Prottest [234] was used to identify the best substitution model for tree reconstruction using corrected alignment and phylogenetic trees were generated using Phangron R package [235]. The interactive tree of life web server [236] was used to display the differential gene expression information of all comparisons for Astacin and Cap genes with the phylogenetic tree. The Codeml tool from phylogenetic analysis by maximum likelihood (PAML) analysis was used to test for selection and to detect positively selected sites (PSS) [237]. In order to determine the homology relationship of *S.papillosus* genes, we downloaded the *S.ratti* gene annotation (PRJEB125) from WormBase (WBPS4) and the classification of genes into different homology classes was preformed using orthomcl [196].

3.6.5.2 Strongyloides stercoralis cox1 tree

The different *S. stercoralis* partial *cox*1 nucleotide sequences and the corresponding *N. americanus* (AJ417719) out-group sequence [240] were aligned using the MUSCLE [234]. A phylogenetic tree was reconstructed using the maximum likelihood method from MEGA6 [216].

3.6.5.3 Onchocerca ochengi mitochondrial genes tree

Considering the high degree of intraspecific variation in nucleotide sequences of mitochondrial genes of nematodes [239], the protein coding mitochondrial genes were used for phylogenetic analyses. The mitochondrial sequences of the samples from this study (nine of the mitochondrial type Ochengi and two of the type Siisa) and ten published and one unpublished Spirurida nematode [Acanthocheilonema viteae (HQ186249), sequence Brugia malayi (AF538716), Chandlerella quiscali (HM773029), Dirofilaria *immitis*: (AJ537512), Gongylonema pulchrum, Setaria digitata (GU138699), Thelazia callipaeda (JX069968), Wuchereria bancrofti (HQ184469), Onchocerca volvulus: (AF015193), Onchocerca flexuosa (HQ214004) and O. gutturosa (unpublished, provided By Prof. Dr. M. Blaxter, University of Edinbourg)] were used for the molecular phylogenetic analyses. The 12 protein coding genes of each nematode were aligned using MUSCLE [232]. The evolutionary history was inferred by using the Maximum Likelihood method based on the Poisson correction model [215]. The tree with the highest log likelihood (-40799.8035) is shown. The percentage of trees in which the associated taxa clustered together is shown next to the branches (bootstrapping). Initial tree(s) for the heuristic search were obtained automatically by applying Neighbor-Join and BioNJ algorithms to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using a JTT model, and then selecting the topology with superior log likelihood value. The analysis involved 22 amino acid sequences. The coding data was translated assuming Invertebrate Mitochondrial genetic code table. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA6 [215].

76

4. Bibliography

- [1] T. Sultana, J. Kim, S.-H. Lee, H. Han, S. Kim, G.-S. Min, S. A. Nadler, and J.-K. Park, "Comparative analysis of complete mitochondrial genome sequences confirms independent origins of plant-parasitic nematodes," *BMC Evol. Biol.*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 12, 2013.
- [2] D. Regions, G. Boucher, and P. J. D. Lambshead, "Society for Conservation Biology Ecological Biodiversity of Marine Nematodes in Samples from Temperate, Tropical, and Ecological Biodiversity of Marine Nematodes in Samples from Temperate, Tropical, and Deep-Sea Regions," vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 1594–1604, 2016.
- [3] G. Borgonie, A. García-Moyano, D. Litthauer, W. Bert, A. Bester, E. van Heerden, C. Möller, M. Erasmus, and T. C. Onstott, "Nematoda from the terrestrial deep subsurface of South Africa.," *Nature*, vol. 474, no. 7349, pp. 79–82, 2011.
- [4] M. Armenteros, A. Ruiz-Abierno, R. Fernández-Garcés, J. A. Pérez-García, L. Díaz-Asencio, M. Vincx, and W. Decraemer, "Biodiversity patterns of free-living marine nematodes in a tropical bay: Cienfuegos, Caribbean Sea," *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 179–189, 2009.
- [5] S. Brenner, "The genetics of *Caenorhabditis elegans.*," *Genetics*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 71–94, 1974.
- [6] E. Culetto and D. B. Sattelle, "A role for *Caenorhabditis elegans* in understanding the function and interactions of human disease genes.," *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 869–877, 2000.
- [7] M. L. Blaxter, P. De Ley, J. R. Garey, L. X. Liu, P. Scheldeman, A. Vierstraete, J. R. Vanfleteren, L. Y. Mackey, M. Dorris, L. M. Frisse, J.

T. Vida, and W. K. Thomas, "A molecular evolutionary framework for the phylum Nematoda," *Nature*, vol. 392, no. 6671, pp. 71–75, 1998.

- [8] M. L. Blaxter, "Nematoda: Genes, Genomes and the Evolution of Parasitism," Advances in Parasitology Volume 54, vol. 54. Elsevier, 2003.
- [9] M. Dorris, P De Ley and M L Blaxter "Molecular Analysis of Nematode Diversityand the Evolution of Parasitism," *Parasitol. Today*, vol. vol. 15, no. no. 5, 1999.
- [10] J. G. Baldwin, S. A. Nadler, and B. J. Adams, "Evolution of Plant Parasitism Among Nematodes," *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 83–105, 2004.
- [11] V. L. Hunt, I. J. Tsai, A. Coghlan, A. J. Reid, N. Holroyd, B. J. Foth, A. Tracey, J. A. Cotton, E. J. Stanley, H. Beasley, H. M. Bennett, K. Brooks, B. Harsha, R. Kajitani, A. Kulkarni, D. Harbecke, E. Nagayasu, S. Nichol, Y. Ogura, M. A. Quail, N. Randle, D. Xia, N. W. Brattig, H. Soblik, D. M. Ribeiro, A. Sanchez-Flores, T. Hayashi, T. Itoh, D. R. Denver, W. Grant, J. D. Stoltzfus, J. B. Lok, H. Murayama, J. Wastling, A. Streit, T. Kikuchi, M. Viney, and M. Berriman, "The genomic basis of parasitism in the *Strongyloides* clade of nematodes," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 299–307, Feb. 2016.
- [12] D. R. Brooks, "Macroevolutionary Comparisons of Host and Parasite Phylogenies," Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 235–259, 1988.
- [13] A. P. Waters, D. G. Higgins, and T. F. McCutchan, "Plasmodium falciparum appears to have arisen as a result of lateral transfer between avian and human hosts.," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., vol. 88, no. April, pp. 3140–3144, 1991.
- [14] E. M. Labes, N. Wijayanti, P. Deplazes, and a Mathis, "Genetic characterization of *Strongyloides* spp. from captive, semi-captive and wild Bornean orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus) in Central and East Kalimantan, Borneo, Indonesia.," *Parasitology*, vol. 138, no. 11, pp.

1417–22, Sep. 2011.

- [15] H. Hasegawa, H. Sato, S. Fujita, P. P. M. Nguema, K. Nobusue, K. Miyagi, T. Kooriyama, Y. Takenoshita, S. Noda, A. Sato, A. Morimoto, Y. Ikeda, and T. Nishida, "Molecular identification of the causative agent of human strongyloidiasis acquired in Tanzania: dispersal and diversity of *Strongyloides* spp. and their hosts.," *Parasitol. Int.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 407–13, Sep. 2010.
- [16] T. J. Nolan, "Canine Strongyloidiasis". In: Companion and Exotic Animal Parasitology, pp. 5–8, 2001.
- [17] K. J. Dillard, S. A. Saari, and M. Anttila, "Strongyloides stercoralis infection in a Finnish kennel.," Acta Vet. Scand., vol. 49, p. 37, Jan. 2007.
- [18] H. J. Dawkins, H. J. Thomason, and D. I. Grove, "The occurrence of Strongyloides ratti in the tissues of mice after percutaneous infection.," *J. Helminthol.*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 45–50, 1982.
- [19] S. Niamatali, T. J. Nolan, and G.A. Schad, "Can Autoinfection be provoked in the *Strongyloides ratti* infected Gerbil, Meriones ungiculatus?" pp. 149–152, 1992.
- [20] N. Taira, "Short Communication Dynamics of faecal egg counts in rabbits experimentally infected with *Strongyloides papillosus*," vol. 39, pp. 333–336, 1991.
- [21] B.K. Baek, I.S. Whang, M. K. Islam, B.-S. Kim, and I. Kakoma, "Persistent infection with *Strongyloides venezuelensis* in the Mongolian gerbil (Meriones unguiculatus).," *Korean J. Parasitol.*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 181–6, 2002.
- [22] T. J. Nolan, Z. Megyeri, V. M. Bhopale, and G. A. Shad, "Strongyloides stercoralis: the first rodent model for umcomplicates and hyperinfective Strongyloidiasis, the Mongolian Gerbil (*Merines unguiculatus*)," pp. 1479–1484, 1993.

- [23] T. Sréter and Z. Széll, "Onchocercosis: A newly recognized disease in dogs," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 151, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2008.
- [24] A. Krueger, P. Fischer, and R. Morales-Hojas, "Molecular phylogeny of the filaria genus *Onchocerca* with special emphasis on Afrotropical human and bovine parasites.," *Acta Trop.*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2007.
- [25] R. Post, "The chromosomes of the Filariae.," *Filaria J.*, vol. 4, p. 10, 2005.
- [26] A. G. Adjami, L. Toé, Y. Bissan, S. Bugri, L. Yaméogo, M. Kone, C. R. Katholi, and T. R. Unnasch, "The current status of onchocerciasis in the forest/savanna transition zone of Côte d'Ivoire.," *Parasitology*, vol. 128, no. Pt 4, pp. 407–14, 2004.
- [27] A. Wahl, G, Achu-Kwi, MD, Mbah, D, Dawa, O, Renz, "Bovine onchocerciasis in North Cameroon," *Vet Parasitol.*, vol. 52, no. 3–4. pp. 297–311, 1994.
- [28] G. Witzany, "Biocommunication of animals," *Biocommunication Anim.*, vol. 9789400774, pp. 1–420, 2013.
- [29] D. M. Pfukenyi, S. Mukaratirwa, a L. Willingham, and J. Monrad, "Epidemiological studies of parasitic gastrointestinal nematodes, cestodes and coccidia infections in cattle in the highveld and lowveld communal grazing areas of Zimbabwe.," *J. Vet. Res.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 129–142, 2007.
- [30] R. S. Mcleod, "Costs of major parasites to the Australian livestock industries," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1363–1367, 1995.
- [31] D. J. Chitwood, "Research on plant-parasitic nematode biology conducted by the United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service," *Pest Manag. Sci.*, vol. 59, no. 6–7, pp. 748–753, 2003.
- [32] A. DiNardo, "Helminth Infections and Their Impact on Global Public

Health," Clin. Infect. Dis., vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 675–675, 2014.

- [33] M. Albonico, H. Allen, L. Chitsulo, D. Engels, A. F. Gabrielli, and L. Savioli, "Controlling soil-transmitted helminthiasis in pre-school-age children through preventive chemotherapy," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 2, no. 3, 2008.
- [34] R. L. Pullan and S. J. Brooker, "The global limits and population at risk of soil-transmitted helminth infections in 2010.," *Parasit. Vectors*, vol. 5, p. 81, 2012.
- [35] J. Bethony, S. Brooker, M. Albonico, S. M. Geiger, A. Loukas, D. Diemert, and P. J. Hotez, "Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm," *Lancet*, vol. 367, no. 9521, pp. 1521–1532, 2006.
- [36] F. Schär, U. Trostdorf, F. Giardina, V. Khieu, S. Muth, H. Marti, P. Vounatsou, and P. Odermatt, "Strongyloides stercoralis: Global Distribution and Risk Factors.," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. e2288, Jan. 2013.
- [37] D. I. Grove, *Human strongyloidiasis*, Advances in parasitology vol. 38. pp.251-309. 1996.
- [38] M. Kváč and J. Vítovec, "Occurrence of Strongyloides papillosus associated with extensive pulmonary lesions and sudden deaths in calves on a beef farm in a highland area of South Bohemia (Czech Republic)," *Helminthologia*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 10–13, 2007.
- [39] N. Taira and S. Ura, "Sudden death in calves associated with Strongyloides papillosus infection," Vet. Parasitol., vol. 39, no. 3–4, pp. 313–319, 1991.
- [40] M. Dorris, M. E. Viney, and M. L. Blaxter, "Molecular phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Strongyloides* and related nematodes," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1507–1517, 2002.
- [41] N. R. Tindall and P. A. G. Wilson, "Criteria for a proof of migration

routes of immature parasites inside hosts exemplified by studies of *Strongyloides ratti* in the rat," pp. 551–563, 1988.

- [42] E. G. Stringham and D. Jones, "*Caenorhabditis elegans*," *Situ*, vol. 113, no. I, pp. 165–173, 1992.
- [43] A. Hino, T. Tanaka, M. Takaishi, Y. Fujii, J. E. Palomares-Rius, K. Hasegawa, H. Maruyama, and T. Kikuchi, "Karyotype and reproduction mode of the rodent parasite Strongyloides venezuelensis.," *Parasitology*, vol. 141, no. 13, pp. 1736–45, 2014.
- [44] M. E. Viney and J. B. Lok, "Strongyloides spp.," WormBook, pp. 1–15, 2007.
- [45] M. E. Viney, "A genetic analysis of reproduction in *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Parasitology*, vol. 109 (Pt 4, no. March, pp. 511–515, 1994.
- [46] E. Januar, I. Einleitung, W. I. I. E. Diese, S. Westeri, and D. Autlenwelt,
 "Strongyloides papillosus (WEDL, 1856) U-ND Strongyloides 8terr," 1936.
- [47] A.A. Siddiqui and S. L. Berk, "Diagnosis of Strongyloides stercoralis infection.," Clin. Infect. Dis., vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 1040–1047, 2001.
- [48] A. Streit, "Genetics: modes of reproduction and genetic analysis," *Parasitology*, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- [49] A. Streit, "How to become a parasite without sex chromosomes: a hypothesis for the evolution of *Strongyloides* spp. and related nematodes.," *Parasitology*, pp. 1–11, 2014.
- [50] S. C. Harvey and M. E. Viney, "Sex determination in the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti*," *Genetics*, vol. 158, no. 4, pp. 1527–1533, 2001.
- [51] A. G. Eberhardt, W. E. Mayer, and A. Streit, "The free-living generation of the nematode Strongyloides papillosus undergoes sexual reproduction," Int. J. Parasitol., vol. 37, no. 8–9, pp. 989–1000, 2007.

- [52] P. B. Keiser and T. B. Nutman, "Strongyloides stercoralis in the Immunocompromised Population," vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 208–217, 2004.
- [53] D. A. WHARTON, "Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates. Their Transmission and Development. 2nd edition. By R. C. Anderson, pp. 672. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International (CABI Publishing) UK, 2000. *Parasitology*, vol. 121, no. 01, pp. 111–113, Jul. 2000.
- [54] G. V Gill, E. Welch, J. W. Bailey, D. R. Bell, and N. J. Beeching, "Chronic Strongyloides stercoralis infection in former British Far East prisoners of war.," QJM, vol. 97, no. 12, pp. 789–95, Dec. 2004.
- [55] A. Streit, "Reproduction in *Strongyloides* (Nematoda): a life between sex and parthenogenesis.," *Parasitology*, vol. 135, no. 3, pp. 285–294, 2008.
- [56] A. Kulkarni, A. Dyka, L. Nemetschke, W. N. Grant, and A. Streit, "Parastrongyloides trichosuri suggests that XX/XO sex determination is ancestral in Strongyloididae (Nematoda).," Parasitology, vol. 140, no. 14, pp. 1822–30, 2013.
- [58] B. Charlesworth, "Sex determination: A worm does it by elimination," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 20, no. 19, pp. R841–R843, 2010.
- [59] L. Nemetschke, A. G. Eberhardt, H. Hertzberg, and A. Streit, "Genetics, chromatin diminution, and sex chromosome evolution in the parasitic nematode genus *Strongyloides*," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 20, no. 19, pp. 1687– 1696, 2010.
- [60] D. G. Albertson, O. C. Nwaorgu, and J. E. Sulston, "Chromatin diminution and a chromosomal mechanism of sexual differentiation in *Strongyloides papillosus*," *Chromosoma*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 75–87, 1979.
- [61] M. Crook and M. E. Viney, "The effect of non-immune stresses on the development of *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Parasitology*, vol. 131, no. Pt 3, pp. 383–392, 2005.

- [62] A. R. Jex, R. S. Hall, D. T. J. Littlewood, and R. B. Gasser, "An integrated pipeline for next-generation sequencing and annotation of mitochondrial genomes," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 522– 533, 2010.
- [63] A. Marcilla, G. Garg, D. Bernal, S. Ranganathan, J. Forment, J. Ortiz, C. Muñoz-Antolí, M. V. Dominguez, L. Pedrola, J. Martinez-Blanch, J. Sotillo, M. Trelis, R. Toledo, and J. G. Esteban, "The transcriptome analysis of *Strongyloides stercoralis* L3i larvae reveals targets for intervention in a neglected disease.," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 6, no. 2, p. e1513, Jan. 2012.
- [64] H. O'Meara, R. Barber, L. V. Mello, A. Sangaralingam, M. E. Viney, and S. Paterson, "Response of the *Strongyloides ratti* transcriptome to host immunological environment," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 40, no. 14, pp. 1609– 1617, 2010.
- [65] K.M. Andersson, D. Kumar, J. Bentzer, E. Friman, D. Ahrén, and A. Tunlid, "Interspecific and host-related gene expression patterns in nematode-trapping fungi.," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 968, 2014.
- [66] J. D. Stoltzfus, S. Minot, M. Berriman, T. J. Nolan, and J. B. Lok, "RNAseq analysis of the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides stercoralis* reveals divergent regulation of canonical dauer pathways.," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 6, no. 10, p. e1854, Jan. 2012.
- [67] R. D. Fleischmann, C. J. Bult, A. Goffeau, A. R. Coulson, A. Coulson, I. Greenwald, A. Coulson, J. Sulston, S. Ward, R. Waterston, R. Okimoto, J. L. Macfarlane, D. O. Clary, D. R. Wohlstenholme, D. T. Burke, G. F. Carle, M. V. Olson, J. Sulston, R. Wilson, M. Vaudin, C. R. Heiner, K. L. Hunkapiller, S. M. Chen, L. G. Lee, A. A. McMurray, J. E. Sulston, M. A. Quail, U. J. Kim, H. Shizuya, P. J. de Jong, S. Cheng, C. Fockler, W. M. Barnes, L. Hamer, M. Johnston, E. D. Green, S. E. Devine, S. L. Chissoe, Y. Eby, C. Wicky, G. A. Fichant, C. Burks, T. M. Lowe, S. Eddy, S. F. Altschul, W. Gish, W. Miller, R. Mott, E. L. Sonnhammer, S. R. Eddy, E. Birney, T. Blumenthal, R. Waterston, J.

Sulston, P. Green, S. A. Chervitz, E. L. Sonnhammer, R. Durbin, G. R. Daniels, P. L. Deininger, R. F. Ketting, S. E. J. Fischer, R. H. Plasterk, G. Bernardi, B. Dujon, T. M. Barnes, Y. Kohara, A. Coulson, S. Dear, M. Cooper, B. Ewing, L. Hillier, M. C. Wendl, J. K. Bonfield, K. F. Smith, R. Staden, D. Gordon, C. Abajian, P. Green, and H. M. Robertson, "Genome sequence of the nematode *C. elegans*: a platform for investigating biology.," *Science*, vol. 282, no. 5396, pp. 2012–8, 1998.

- [68] C. Dieterich, S. W. Clifton, L. N. Schuster, A. Chinwalla, K. Delehaunty, I. Dinkelacker, L. Fulton, R. Fulton, J. Godfrey, P. Minx, M. Mitreva, W. Roeseler, H. Tian, H. Witte, S.-P. Yang, R. K. Wilson, and R. J. Sommer, "The *Pristionchus pacificus* genome provides a unique perspective on nematode lifestyle and parasitism.," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 1193–1198, 2008.
- [69] M. Mitreva, J. P. McCarter, J. Martin, M. Dante, T. Wylie, B. Chiapelli, D. Pape, S. W. Clifton, T. B. Nutman, and R. H. Waterston, "Comparative genomics of gene expression in the parasitic and freeliving nematodes *Strongyloides stercoralis* and *Caenorhabditis elegans.*," *Genome Res.*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 209–20, Feb. 2004.
- [70] F. J. Thompson, M. Mitreva, G. L. A. Barker, J. Martin, R. H. Waterson, J. P. McCarter, and M. E. Viney, "An expressed sequence tag analysis of the life-cycle of the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti*," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 32–46, 2005.
- [71] F. J. Thompson, G. L. a Barker, L. Hughes, and M. E. Viney, "Genes important in the parasitic life of the nematode *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 158, no. 2, pp. 112–9, 2008.
- [72] E. Nagayasu, Y. Ogura, T. Itoh, A. Yoshida, G. Chakraborty, T. Hayashi, and H. Maruyama, "Transcriptomic analysis of four developmental stages of *Strongyloides venezuelensis*," *Parasitol. Int.*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 57–65, 2013.
- [73] R. Ramanathan, S. Varma, J. M. C. Ribeiro, T. G. Myers, T. J. Nolan, D. Abraham, J. B. Lok, and T. B. Nutman, "Microarray-Based Analysis of

Differential Gene Expression between Infective and Noninfective Larvae of *Strongyloides stercoralis*," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 5, no. 5, p. e1039, 2011.

- [74] J. D. Stoltzfus, S. Minot, M. Berriman, T. J. Nolan, and J. B. Lok, "RNAseq Analysis of the Parasitic Nematode Strongyloides stercoralis Reveals Divergent Regulation of Canonical Dauer Pathways," vol. 6, no. 10, 2012.
- [75] X. Li, H. C. Massey, T. J. Nolan, G. a Schad, K. Kraus, M. Sundaram, and J. B. Lok, "Successful transgenesis of the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides stercoralis* requires endogenous non-coding control elements.," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 671–9, May 2006.
- [76] D. J. Dickinson and B. Goldstein, "CRISPR-Based Methods for Caenorhabditis elegans Genome Engineering," vol. 202, no. March, pp. 885–901, 2016.
- [77] A. G. Maule, P. McVeigh, J. J. Dalzell, L. Atkinson, A. Mousley, and N. J. Marks, "An eye on RNAi in nematode parasites," *Trends Parasitol.*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 505–513, 2011.
- [78] J. B. Lok and D. Artis, "Transgenesis and neuronal ablation in parasitic nematodes: Revolutionary new tools to dissect host-parasite interactions," *Parasite Immunol.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 203–214, 2008.
- [79] H. Shao, X. Li, T. J. Nolan, H. C. Massey, E. J. Pearce, and J. B. Lok, "Transposon-mediated Chromosomal Integration of Transgenes in the Parasitic Nematode *Strongyloides ratti* and Establishment of Stable Transgenic Lines," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 8, no. 8, 2012.
- [80] J. B. Lok, "Nucleic acid transfection and transgenesis in parasitic nematodes.," *Parasitology*, vol. 139, no. 5, pp. 574–88, 2012.
- [81] J. B. Lok and H. C. Massey, "Transgene expression in Strongyloides stercoralis following gonadal microinjection of DNA constructs," Mol. Biochem. Parasitol., vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 279–284, 2002.

- [82] X. Li, H. Shao, A. Junio, T. J. Nolan, H. C. Massey, E. J. Pearce, M. E. Viney, and J. B. Lok, "Transgenesis in the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti," Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 179, no. 2, pp. 114– 119, 2011.
- [83] W. Yuan, J. B. Lok, J. D. Stoltzfus, R. B. Gasser, F. Fang, W.-Q. Lei, R. Fang, Y.-Q. Zhou, J.-L. Zhao, and M. Hu, "Toward understanding the functional role of Ss-RIOK-1, a RIO protein kinase-encoding gene of *Strongyloides stercoralis.*," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 8, no. 8, p. e3062, 2014.
- [84] M. Jinek, K. Chylinski, I. Fonfara, M. Hauer, J. A. Doudna, and E. Charpentier, "A Programmable Dual-RNA – Guided," *Science*, vol. 337, no. August, pp. 816–822, 2012.
- [85] H. Witte, E. Moreno, C. R??delsperger, J. Kim, J. S. Kim, A. Streit, and R. J. Sommer, "Gene inactivation using the CRISPR/Cas9 systemin the nematode *Pristionchus pacificus*," *Dev. Genes Evol.*, vol. 225, no. 1, pp. 55–62, 2014.
- [86] J. D. Sander and J. K. Joung, "CRISPR-Cas systems for editing, regulating and targeting genomes.," *Nat. Biotechnol.*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 347–55, 2014.
- [87] T. Sugi, "Genome Editing in *C. elegans* and Other Nematode Species," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 17, no. 3, p. 295, 2016.
- [88] T. W. Lo, C. S. Pickle, S. Lin, E. J. Ralston, M. Gurling, C. M. Schartner, Q. Bian, J. A. Doudna, and B. J. Meyer, "Precise and heritable genome editing in evolutionarily diverse nematodes using TALENs and CRISPR/Cas9 to engineer insertions and deletions," *Genetics*, vol. 195, no. 2, pp. 331–348, 2013.
- [89] S. Xu, "The Application of CRISPR-Cas9 Genome Editing in Caenorhabditis elegans," J. Genet. Genomics, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 413– 421, 2015.
- [90] J. B. Lok, "Strongyloides stercoralis and Relatives: Recent Advances in

General and Molecular Biology," *Curr. Trop. Med. Reports*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 194–206, 2014.

- [91] A. Grishok, "RNAi mechanisms in *Caenorhabditis elegans*," *FEBS Lett.*, vol. 579, no. 26, pp. 5932–5939, 2005.
- [92] N. Agrawal, P. V. N. Dasaradhi, A. Mohmmed, P. Malhotra, R. K. Bhatnagar, and S. K. Mukherjee, "RNA Interference: Biology, Mechanism, and Applications," vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 657–685, 2003.
- [93] K. Min, J. Kang, and J. Lee, "A modified feeding RNAi method for simultaneous knock-down of more than one gene in *Caenorhabditis elegans*," *Biotechniques*, vol. 48, pp. 229–232, 2010.
- [94] C. Wilkins, R. Dishongh, S. C. Moore, M. a Whitt, M. Chow, and K. Machaca, "RNA interference is an antiviral defence mechanism in *Caenorhabditis elegans.*," *Nature*, vol. 436, no. 7053, pp. 1044–1047, 2005.
- [95] A. Fire, S. Xu, M. K. Montgomery, S. A. Kostas, S. E. Driver, and C. C. Mello, "Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*," *Nature*, vol. 391, no. 6669, pp. 806–811, 1998.
- [96] C. M. Hammell and G. J. Hannon, "Inducing RNAi in *C. elegans* by feeding with dsRNA-expressing *E. coli*," *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 1263–1266, 2012.
- [97] C. C. Mello and D. Conte, "Revealing the world of RNA interference.," *Nature*, vol. 431, no. 7006, pp. 338–342, 2004.
- [98] J. J. Dalzell, P. McVeigh, N. D. Warnock, M. Mitreva, D. M. Bird, P. Abad, C. C. Fleming, T. A. Day, A. Mousley, N. J. Marks, and A. G. Maule, "RNAi Effector Diversity in Nematodes," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 5, no. 6, p. e1176, 2011.
- [99] J. Pak and A. Fire, "Distinct populations of primary and secondary effectors during RNAi in *C. elegans.*," *Science (80-.).*, vol. 315, no.

5809, pp. 241–244, 2007.

- [100] T. Sijen, F. a Steiner, K. L. Thijssen, and R. H. a Plasterk, "Secondary siRNAs result from unprimed RNA synthesis and form a distinct class.," *Science*, vol. 315, no. 5809, pp. 244–247, 2007.
- [101] J. Wang and M. M. Barr, "RNA interference in Caenorhabditis elegans.," *Methods Enzymol.*, vol. 392, pp. 36–55, Jan. 2005.
- [102] A. Rieger, I. Guillemin, H. G. Nothwang, A. Tierphysiologie, U. Kaiserslautern, and D.- Kaiserslautern, "Functional gene analysis by RNA interference (RNAi)," vol. 1.
- [103] H. Tabara, "REVERSE GENETICS:RNAi in *C. elegans*: Soaking in the Genome Sequence," *Science (80-.).*, vol. 282, no. 5388, pp. 430–431, 1998.
- [104] L. Timmons and a Fire, "Specific interference by ingested dsRNA.," *Nature*, vol. 395, no. 6705, p. 854, 1998.
- [105] Z. Issa, W. N. Grant, S. Stasiuk, and C. B. Shoemaker, "Development of methods for RNA interference in the sheep gastrointestinal parasite, *Trichostrongylus colubriformis*," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 35, no. 9, pp. 935– 940, 2005.
- [106] P. Geldhof, L. Murray, A. Couthier, J. S. Gilleard, G. McLauchlan, D. P. Knox, and C. Britton, "Testing the efficacy of RNA interference in *Haemonchus contortus*," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 801–810, 2006.
- [107] M. Lendner, M. Doligalska, R. Lucius, and S. Hartmann, "Attempts to establish RNA interference in the parasitic nematode *Heligmosomoides polygyrus*," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 161, no. 1, pp. 21–31, 2008.
- [108] M. N. Rosso, J. T. Jones, and P. Abad, "RNAi and Functional Genomics in Plant Parasitic Nematodes," *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 207–232, 2009.
- [109] A. S. Hussein, K. Kichenin, and M. E. Selkirk, "Suppression of secreted

acetylcholinesterase expression in Nippostrongylus brasiliensis by RNA interference," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 91–94, 2002.

- [110] A. A. Aboobaker and M. L. Blaxter, "Functional genomics for parasitic nematodes and platyhelminths," *Trends Parasitol.*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 178–184, 2004.
- [111] S. Lustigman, J. Zhang, J. Liu, Y. Oksov, and S. Hashmi, "RNA interference targeting cathepsin L and Z-like cysteine proteases of *Onchocerca volvulus* confirmed their essential function during L3 molting.," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 165–70, 2004.
- [112] M. K. Islam, T. Miyoshi, M. Yamada, and N. Tsuji, "Pyrophosphatase of the Roundworm Ascaris suum Plays an Essential Role in the Worm 's Molting and Development," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 1995– 2004, 2005.
- [113] A. C. Kotze and N. H. Bagnall, "RNA interference in *Haemonchus contortus*: Suppression of beta-tubulin gene expression in L3, L4 and adult worms in vitro," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 145, no. 1, pp. 101–110, 2006.
- [114] A. VISSER, P. GELDHOF, V. DE MAERE, D. P. KNOX, J. VERCRUYSSE, and E. CLAEREBOUT, "Efficacy and specificity of RNA interference in larval life-stages of *Ostertagia ostertagi*," *Parasitology*, vol. 133, no. 06, pp. 777–783, 2006.
- [115] J. L. Zawadzki, A. C. Kotze, J. A. Fritz, N. M. Johnson, J. E. Hemsworth, B. M. Hines, and C. A. Behm, "Silencing of essential genes by RNA interference in *Haemonchus contortus*," *Parasitology*, pp. 1–17, 2012.
- [116] M. E. Viney and F. J. Thompson, "Two hypotheses to explain why RNA interference does not work in animal parasitic nematodes.," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 43–7, 2008.
- [117] P. E. Urwin, C. J. Lilley, and H. J. Atkinson, "Ingestion of doublestranded RNA by preparasitic juvenile cyst nematodes leads to RNA

interference," *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 747–752, 2002.

- [118] D. P. Knox, P. Geldhof, A. Visser, and C. Britton, "RNA interference in parasitic nematodes of animals: a reality check?," *Trends Parasitol.*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 105–7, Mar. 2007.
- [119] M.-A. Félix, "RNA interference in nematodes and the chance that favored Sydney Brenner.," *J. Biol.*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. 34, 2008.
- [120] B. Samarasinghe, D. P. Knox, and C. Britton, "Factors affecting susceptibility to RNA interference in *Haemonchus contortus* and in vivo silencing of an H11 aminopeptidase gene," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 51–59, 2011.
- [121] H. Hasegawa, S. Hayashida, Y. Ikeda, and H. Sato, "Hyper-variable regions in 18S rDNA of *Strongyloides* spp. as markers for speciesspecific diagnosis.," *Parasitol. Res.*, vol. 104, no. 4, pp. 869–74, Mar. 2009.
- [122] S. Puthiyakunnon, S. Boddu, Y. Li, X. Zhou, C. Wang, J. Li, and X. Chen, "Strongyloidiasis--an insight into its global prevalence and management," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 8, no. 8, p. e3018, 2014.
- [123] R. W. Ashford, G. Barnish, and M. E. Viney, "Strongyloides fuelleborni kellyi: Infection and disease in Papua New Guinea," Parasitol. Today, vol. 8, no. 9, pp. 314–318, 1992.
- [124] A. J. Krolewiecki, P. Lammie, J. Jacobson, A.-F. Gabrielli, B. Levecke, E. Socias, L. M. Arias, N. Sosa, D. Abraham, R. Cimino, A. Echazú, F. Crudo, J. Vercruysse, and M. Albonico, "A public health response against *Strongyloides stercoralis*: time to look at soil-transmitted helminthiasis in full.," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 5, p. e2165, Jan. 2013.
- [125] A. Olsen, L. van Lieshout, H. Marti, T. Polderman, K. Polman, P. Steinmann, R. Stothard, S. Thybo, J. J. Verweij, and P. Magnussen, "Strongyloidiasis – the most neglected of the neglected tropical

diseases?," *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 103, no. 10, pp. 967–972, 2009.

- [126] W. Pakdee, U. Thaenkham, P. Dekumyoy, S. Sa-nguankiat, W. Maipanich, and S. Pubampen, "Research note genetic differenciation of *Strongyloides stercoralis* from two different climate zones revealed by 18S rDNA," pp. 1333–1338, 2009.
- [127] J. Kim, H. S. Joo, H. M. Ko, M. S. Na, S. H. Hwang, and J. C. Im, "A case of fatal hyperinfective strongyloidiasis with discovery of autoinfective filariform larvae in sputum.," *Korean J. Parasitol.*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 51–55, 2005.
- [128] C. S. Lam, M. K. H. Tong, K. M. Chan, and Y. P. Siu, "Disseminated strongyloidiasis: a retrospective study of clinical course and outcome.," *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 14–8, 2006.
- [129] G. D.I., "Strongyloidiasis in allied ex-prisoners of war in South-East Asia," Br. Med. J., vol. 280, no. 6214, pp. 598–601, 1980.
- [130] A. Iliev, "Small Bowel Obstruction from Strongyloides Stercoralis: Case Report," J. Clin. Case Reports, vol. 04, no. 04, 2014.
- [131] L. A. Marcos, A. Terashima, M. Canales, and E. Gotuzzo, "Update on strongyloidiasis in the immunocompromised host," *Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 35–46, 2011.
- [132] D. I. Grove, "Strongyloidiasis: a conundrum for gastroenterologists.," *Gut*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 437–40, 1994.
- [133] Z. Qu, U. R. Kundu, R. A. Abadeer, and A. Wanger, "Strongyloides colitis is a lethal mimic of ulcerative colitis: the key morphologic differential diagnosis," *Hum. Pathol.*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 572–577, 2009.
- [134] D. Nonaka, K. Takaki, M. Tanaka, M. Umeno, T. Takeda, M. Yoshida, Y. Haraguch, K. Okada, and Y. Sawae, "Paralytic ileus due to strongyloidiasis: Case report and review of the literature," *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 535–538, 1998.

- [135] M. a Rodrigues, R. C. Fróes, a Anefalos, and S. Kobayasi, "Invasive enteritis by *Strongyloides stercoralis* presenting as acute abdominal distress under corticosteroid therapy.," *Rev. Hosp. Clin. Fac. Med. Sao. Paulo.*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 103–106, 2001.
- [136] E. Delarocque Astagneau, a Hadengue, C. Degott, V. Vilgrain, S. Erlinger, and J. P. Benhamou, "Biliary obstruction resulting from *Strongyloides stercoralis* infection. Report of a case.," *Gut*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 705–6, 1994.
- [137] J. Cruz Ruy J., R. Vincenzi, and B. M. Ketzer, "Duodenal obstruction--an unusual presentation of *Strongyloides stercoralis* enteritis: a case report.," *World J. Emerg. Surg.*, vol. 5, pp. 23–28, 2010.
- [138] C. Nwokolo and E. a Imohiosen, "Strongyloidiasis of respiratory tract presenting as 'asthma'.," *Br. Med. J.*, vol. 2, no. 5859, pp. 153–4, 1973.
- [139] J. R. Thompson and R. Berger, "Fatal Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome Following Successful Treatment of Pulmonary Strongyloidiasis*," *Chest*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 772–774, Mar. 1991.
- [140] J.I. F. Salluh, F.A. Bozza, T.S. Pinto , L. Toscano, P.F. Weller and M. Soares "Cutaneous periumbilical purpura in disseminated strongyloidiasis in cancer patients: a pathognomonic feature of potentially lethal disease?. *Brazilian J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 419–424, 2005.
- [141] S. M. Gordon, a a Gal, a R. Solomon, and J. a Bryan, "Disseminated strongyloidiasis with cutaneous manifestations in an immunocompromised host.," *J. Am. Acad. Dermatol.*, vol. 31, no. 2 Pt 1, pp. 255–259, 1994.
- [142] A. Da, I. Hilmarsdottir, M. Lyagoubi, P. Gaxotte, S. Biliguil, J. Chodakewitz, D. Neu, M. Danis, and M. Gentilini, "Treatment of *Strongyloides stercoralis* infection with ivermectin albendazole: results of an open study of 60 cases compared with," *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 88, pp. 344–345, 1994.

- [143] M. Taylor, T. Garrard, K. Ross, and F. Odonahoo, "Human strongyloidiasis: identifying knowledge gaps, with emphasis on environmental control," *Res. Rep. Trop. Med.*, vol. Volume 5, p. 55, 2014.
- [144] O. Zaha, T. Hirata, F. Kinjo, A. Saito, and H. Fukuhara, "Efficacy of ivermectin for chronic strongyloidiasis: two single doses given 2 weeks apart.," *J. Infect. Chemother.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 94–8, 2002.
- [145] Z. Bisoffi, D. Buonfrate, A. Montresor, A. Requena-Mendez, J. Müoz, A. J. Krolewiecki, E. Gotuzzo, M. A. Mena, P. L. Chiodini, M. Anselmi, J. Moreira, and M. Albonico, "Strongyloides stercoralis: A Plea for Action," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 7–10, 2013.
- [146] P. H. Gann, F. a Neva, and a a Gam, "A randomized trial of single- and two-dose ivermectin versus thiabendazole for treatment of strongyloidiasis.," *J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 169, no. 5, pp. 1076–9, 1994.
- [147] R. M. Rodrigues, M. C. De Oliveira, M. C. Sopelete, D. A. O. Silva, D. M. B. Campos, E. A. Taketomi, and J. M. Costa-Cruz, "IgG1, IgG4, and IgE antibody responses in human strongyloidiasis by ELISA using Strongyloides ratti saline extract as heterologous antigen," *Parasitol. Res.*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 1209–1214, 2007.
- [148] W. A. Page, K. Dempsey, and J. S. McCarthy, "Utility of serological follow-up of chronic strongyloidiasis after anthelminthic chemotherapy.," *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 100, no. 11, pp. 1056–62, Nov. 2006.
- [149] S. Sudarshi, R. Stümpfle, M. Armstrong, T. Ellman, S. Parton, P. Krishnan, P. L. Chiodini, and C. J. M. Whitty, "Clinical presentation and diagnostic sensitivity of laboratory tests for Strongyloides stercoralis in travellers compared with immigrants in a non-endemic country," *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 728–732, 2003.
- [150] P. P. Yori, M. Kosek, R. H. Gilman, J. Cordova, C. Bern, C. B. Chavez,M. P. Olortegui, C. Montalvan, G. M. Sanchez, B. Worthen, J. Worthen,

F. Leung, and C. V. Ore, "Seroepidemiology of strongyloidiasis in the Peruvian Amazon," *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 97–102, 2006.

- [151] J. J. Verweij, M. Canales, K. Polman, J. Ziem, E. A. T. Brienen, A. M. Polderman, and L. van Lieshout, "Molecular diagnosis of *Strongyloides stercoralis* in faecal samples using real-time PCR," *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, vol. 103, no. 4, pp. 342–346, 2009.
- [152] M. Dorris and M. Blaxter, "The small subunit ribosomal RNA sequence of Strongyloides stercoralis.," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 939– 41, Jul. 2000.
- [153] F. Schär, L. Guo, A. Streit, V. Khieu, S. Muth, H. Marti, and P. Odermatt, "Strongyloides stercoralis genotypes in humans in Cambodia," Parasitol. Int., vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 533–536, 2014.
- [154] Y. Shintoku, E. Kimura, T.Kadosaka, H. Hasegawa, S.Kondo, M.Itoh,
 M.Z. Islam "Strongyloides ratti Infection in the Large Intestine of Wild Rats, *Rattus norvegicus*" vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 1116–1121, 2011.
- [155] M. E. Paterson S; Viney, "Host immune responses are necessary for density dependence in nematode infections," *Parasitology*, vol. 125, pp. 283–292, 2002.
- [156] C. P. Wilkes, C. Bleay, S. Paterson, and M. E. Viney, "The immune response during a *Strongyloides ratti* infection of rats," *Parasite Immunol.*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 339–346, 2007.
- [157] M. C. Fisher and M. E. Viney, "The population genetic structure of the facultatively sexual parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti* in wild rats.," *Proc. Biol. Sci.*, vol. 265, no. 1397, pp. 703–9, 1998.
- [158] A. Requena-Méndez, P. Chiodini, Z. Bisoffi, D. Buonfrate, E. Gotuzzo, and J. Muñoz, "The Laboratory Diagnosis and Follow Up of Strongyloidiasis: A Systematic Review," *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. e2002, 2013.

- [159] B. J. Pak, F. Vasquez-camargo, E. Kalinichenko, P. L. Chiodini, T. B. Nutman, H. B. Tanowitz, I. Mcauliffe, P. Wilkins, P. T. Smith, B. J. Ward, M. D. Libman, and M. Ndao, "Development of a Rapid Serological Assay for the Diagnosis of Strongyloidiasis Using a Novel Diffraction-Based Biosensor Technology," vol. 8, no. 8, 2014.
- [160] A. F. Ahmad, F. Hadip, R. Ngui, Y. a L. Lim, and R. Mahmud, "Serological and molecular detection of *Strongyloides stercoralis* infection among an Orang Asli community in Malaysia.," *Parasitol. Res.*, vol. 112, no. 8, pp. 2811–6, Aug. 2013.
- [161] H. Soblik, A. E. Younis, M. Mitreva, B. Y. Renard, M. Kirchner, F. Geisinger, H. Steen, and N. W. Brattig, "Life Cycle Stage-resolved Proteomic Analysis of the Excretome/Secretome from Strongyloides ratti--Identification of Stage-specific Proteases," *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*, vol. 10, no. 12, , 2011.
- [162] M. E. Viney, "The biology and genomics of Strongyloides," Med. Microbiol. Immunol., vol. 195, no. 2, pp. 49–54, 2006.
- [163] L. Nemetschke, A. G. Eberhardt, M. E. Viney, and A. Streit, "A genetic map of the animal-parasitic nematode Strongyloides ratti," Mol. Biochem. Parasitol., vol. 169, no. 2, pp. 124–127, 2010.
- [164] Y. N. and N. T. Naotoshi Tsuji, "Long-lasting Parasitism of Strongyloides venezuelensis in Mongolian Gerbils (Meriones unguiculatus," Am. Soc. Parasitol., vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 305–307, 1993.
- [165] A. Königová, G. Hrčkova, S. Velebný, J. Čorba, and M. Várady, "Experimental infection of *Haemonchus contortus* strains resistant and susceptible to benzimidazoles and the effect on mast cells distribution in the stomach of Mongolian gerbils (Meriones unguiculatus)," *Parasitol. Res.*, vol. 102, no. 4, pp. 587–595, 2008.
- [166] T. Tokiwa, K. Taira, and Y. Une, "Experimental Infection of Mongolian Gerbils with *Baylisascaris potosis*," *J. Parasitol.*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 114–115, 2015.

- [167] M. E. Viney, M. D. Steer, and C. P. Wilkes, "The reversibility of constraints on size and fecundity in the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Parasitology*, vol. 133, no. Pt 4, pp. 477–483, 2006.
- [168] E. R. Machado, M. T. Ueta, E. V. Loureno, F. de F. Anabal, Erica Vitalino Garcia da Silva, M. C. Roque-Barreira, J. M. Costa-Cruz, and L. H. Faccioli, "Infectivity of *Strongyloides venezuelensis* is influenced by variations in temperature and time of culture," *Exp. Parasitol.*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 72–79, 2011.
- [169] C. P. Wilkes, F. J. Thompson, M. P. Gardner, S. Paterson, and M. E. Viney, "The effect of the host immune response on the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti*," *Parasitology*, vol. 128, no. 6, pp. 661– 669, 2004.
- [170] S. Paterson and R. Barber, "Experimental evolution of parasite lifehistory traits in *Strongyloides ratti* (Nematoda).," *Proc. Biol. Sci.*, vol. 274, no. 1617, pp. 1467–1474, 2007.
- [171] M. Jäger, M. Gauly, C. Bauer, K. Failing, G. Erhardt, and H. Zahner, "Endoparasites in calves of beef cattle herds: Management systems dependent and genetic influences," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 131, no. 3–4, pp. 173–191, 2005.
- [172] M. N. Wymann, K. Traore, B. Bonfoh, S. Tembely, S. Tembely, and J. Zinsstag, "Gastrointestinal parasite egg excretion in young calves in periurban livestock production in Mali," *Res. Vet. Sci.*, vol. 84, no. 2, pp. 225–231, 2008.
- [173] A. G. Eberhardt, W. E. Mayer, B. Bonfoh, and A. Streit, "The Strongyloides (Nematoda) of sheep and the predominant Strongyloides of cattle form at least two different, genetically isolated populations," vol. 157, pp. 89–99, 2008.
- [174] M. Eysker, N. Bakker, F. N. J. Kooyman, and H. W. Ploeger, "The possibilities and limitations of evasive grazing as a control measure for parasitic gastroenteritis in small ruminants in temperate climates," *Vet.*

Parasitol., vol. 129, no. 1–2, pp. 95–104, 2005.

- [175] A. E. Jimenez, A. Fernändez, R. Alfaro, G. Dolz, B. Vargas, C. Epe, and T. Schnieder, "A cross-sectional survey of gastrointestinal parasites with dispersal stages in feces from Costa Rican dairy calves," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 173, no. 3–4, pp. 236–246, 2010.
- [176] S. Ura, N. Taira, Y. Nakamura, N. Tsuji, and H. Hirose, "Sudden death of calves by experimental infection with *Strongyloides papillosus*. IV. Electrocardiographic and pneumographic observations at critical moments of the disease," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 47, no. 3–4, pp. 343–347, 1993.
- [177] W. Stone and F. W. Smith, "Infection of mammalian hosts by milk-borne nematode larvae: A review," *Exp. Parasitol.*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 306–312, 1973.
- [178] V. Biewener, C. Welz, G. Khumpool, U. Küttler, and T. Schnieder, "Strongyloides papillosus: Changes in transcript levels of lysozyme and aspartic protease 2 in percutaneously migrated larvae," *Exp. Parasitol.*, vol. 132, no. 1, pp. 62–68, 2012.
- [179] J. G. Pienaar, P. A. Basson, J. L. D. U. Plessis, H. M. Collins, T. W. Naude, P. A. Boyazoglu, J. Boomker, F. Reyers, and W. L. Pienaar, "Experimental studies with *Strongyloides papillosus* in goats," *Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res.*, vol. 66, pp. 191–235, 1999.
- [180] A. K. Campos, J. V. Araújo, M. P. Guimarães, and A. S. Dias, "Resistance of different fungal structures of Duddingtonia flagrans to the digestive process and predatory ability on larvae of Haemonchus contortus and *Strongyloides papillosus* in goat feces," *Parasitol. Res.*, vol. 105, no. 4, pp. 913–919, 2009.
- [181] N. Taira, Y. Nakamura, N. Tsuji, M. Kubo, and S. Ura, "Sudden death of calves by experimental infection with *Strongyloides papaillosus*. I. Parasitological observations," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 42, no. 3–4, pp. 247– 256, 1992.

- [182] M.N. Wymann, K. Traore, B. Bonfoh, S. Tembely S. Tembely and J. Zinsstag, "Gastrointestinal parasite egg excretion in young calves in periurban livestock production in Mali." *Research in Veterinary Science*, vol. 143, pp. 67–73, 2007.
- [183] S. Rehbein, A. F. Batty, D. Barth, M. Visser, B. J. Timms, R. A. Barrick, and J. S. Eagleson, "Efficacy of an ivermectin controlled-release capsule against nematode and arthropod endoparasites in sheep," *Vet.Rec.*, vol. 142, no. 13, pp. 331–334, 1998.
- [184] Y. Nakamura and M. Motokawa, "Hypolipemia associated with the wasting condition of rabbits infected with Strongyloides papillosus," Vet. Parasitol., vol. 88, no. 1–2, pp. 147–151, 2000.
- [185] C. Dieterich and R. J. Sommer, "How to become a parasite lessons from the genomes of nematodes.," *Trends Genet.*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 203–9, May 2009.
- [186] Z. Egyed, T. Sréter, Z. Széll, G. Nyiro, K. Márialigeti, and I. Varga, "Molecular phylogenetic analysis of *Onchocerca lupi* and its Wolbachia endosymbiont," *Vet. Parasitol.*, vol. 108, no. 2, pp. 153–161, 2002.
- [187] S. L. Kläger, J. a Whitworth, and M. D. Downham, "Viability and fertility of adult Onchocerca volvulus after 6 years of treatment with ivermectin.," *Trop. Med. Int. Health*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 581–589, 1996.
- [188] a J. Trees, S. P. Graham, a Renz, a E. Bianco, and V. Tanya, "Onchocerca ochengi infections in cattle as a model for human onchocerciasis: recent developments.," *Parasitology*, vol. 120 Suppl, pp. S133–42, 2000.
- [190] A. Eisenbarth, D. Ekale, J. Hildebrandt, M. D. Achukwi, A. Streit, and A. Renz, "Molecular evidence of 'Siisa form', a new genotype related to *Onchocerca ochengi* in cattle from North Cameroon," *Acta Trop.*, vol. 127, no. 3, pp. 261–265, 2013.
- [191] J. C. Hildebrandt, A. Eisenbarth, A. Renz, and A. Streit, "Reproductive biology of *Onchocerca ochengi*, a nodule forming filarial nematode in
zebu cattle," Vet. Parasitol., vol. 205, no. 1–2, pp. 318–329, 2014.

- [192] A. I. Khan, Y. Horii, R. Tiuria, Y. Sato, and Y. Nawa, "Mucosal mast cells and the expulsive mechanisms of mice against *Strongyloides venezuelensis*," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 551–555, Aug. 1993.
- [193] T. J. Nolan, V. M. Bhopale, H. L. Rotman, D. Abraham, and G. A. Schad, "Strongyloides stercoralis: High worm population density leads to autoinfection in the jird (Meriones unguiculatus)," *Exp. Parasitol.*, vol. 100, no. 3, pp. 173–178, 2002.
- [194] S. C. Harvey, a W. Gemmill, a F. Read, and M. E. Viney, "The control of morph development in the parasitic nematode *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Proc. Biol. Sci.*, vol. 267, no. 1457, pp. 2057–2063, 2000.
- [195] H. Evans, L. V. Mello, Y. Fang, E. Wit, F. J. Thompson, M. E. Viney, and S. Paterson, "Microarray analysis of gender- and parasite-specific gene transcription in *Strongyloides ratti.*," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 38, no. 11, pp. 1329–1341, 2008.
- [196] L. Li, "{OrthoMCL}: Identification of Ortholog Groups for Eukaryotic Genomes," *Genome Res.*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 2178–2189, Sep. 2003.
- [197] P. Baskaran, C. Rödelsperger, N. Prabh, V. Serobyan, G. V. Markov, A. Hirsekorn, and C. Dieterich, "Ancient gene duplications have shaped developmental stage-specific expression in *Pristionchus pacificus*," *BMC Evol. Biol.*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 185, 2015.
- [198] M. A. Hickman, M. A. Hickman, L. N. Rusche, and L. N. Rusche, "Transcriptional silencing functions of the yeast protein Orc1/Sir3 subfunctionalized after gene duplication.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 107, no. 45, pp. 19384–19389, 2010.
- [199] R. T. Good, L. Gramzow, P. Battlay, T. Sztal, P. Batterham, and C. Robin, "The molecular evolution of cytochrome P450 genes within and between drosophila species.," *Genome Biol. Evol.*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1118–34, 2014.

- [200] V. Shukla, F. Habib, A. Kulkarni, and G. S. Ratnaparkhi, "Gene duplication, lineage-specific expansion, and subfunctionalization in the MADF-BESS family patterns the Drosophila wing hinge," *Genetics*, vol. 196, no. 2, pp. 481–496, 2014.
- [201] M. Moyle, D. L. Foster, D. E. McGrath, S. M. Brown, Y. Laroche, M. J. De, P. Stanssens, C. A. Bogowitz, V. A. Fried, and J. A. Ely, "A hookworm glycoprotein that inhibits neutrophil function is a ligand of the integrin CD11b/CD18.," *J Biol Chem*, vol. 269, pp. 10008–10015, Apr. 1994.
- [202] V. A. Del, B. F. Jones, L. M. Harrison, R. C. Chadderdon, and M. Cappello, "Isolation and molecular cloning of a secreted hookworm platelet inhibitor from adult *Ancylostoma caninum.*," *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, vol. 129, pp. 167–177, Jul. 2003.
- [204] J.-O. Park, J. Pan, F. Möhrlen, M.-O. Schupp, R. Johnsen, D. L. Baillie, R. Zapf, D. G. Moerman, and H. Hutter, "Characterization of the astacin family of metalloproteases in *C. elegans*," *BMC Dev. Biol.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2010.
- [205] A. L. Williamson, S. Lustigman, Y. Oksov, V. Deumic, J. Plieskatt, S. Mendez, B. Zhan, M. E. Bottazzi, P. J. Hotez, and A. Loukas, "Ancylostoma caninum MTP-1, an astacin-like metalloprotease secreted by infective hookworm larvae, is involved in tissue migration," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 961–967, 2006.
- [206] H. R. Gamble, R. H. Fetterer, and L. S. Mansfield, "Developmentally Regulated Zinc Metalloproteinases from Third- and Fourth-Stage Larvae of the Ovine Nematode *Haemonchus contortus*," *J. Parasitol.*, vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 197–202, 1996.
- [207] G. Stepek, G. McCormack, and A. P. Page, "Collagen processing and cuticle formation is catalysed by the astacin metalloprotease DPY-31 in free-living and parasitic nematodes.," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 533–42, Apr. 2010.

- [208] G. Stepek, G. McCormack, A. J. Birnie, and A. P. Page, "The astacin metalloprotease moulting enzyme NAS-36 is required for normal cuticle ecdysis in free-living and parasitic nematodes.," *Parasitology*, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 237–48, 2011.
- [209] G. Stepek, G. McCormack, A. D. Winter, and A. P. Page, "A highly conserved, inhibitable astacin metalloprotease from *Teladorsagia circumcincta* is required for cuticle formation and nematode development.," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 345–55, Apr. 2015.
- [210] S. G. Gallego, A. Loukas, R. W. Slade, F. A. Neva, R. Varatharajalu, T.
 B. Nutman, and P. J. Brindley, "Identification of an astacin-like metalloproteinase transcript from the infective larvae of Strongyloides stercoralis," *Parasitol. Int.*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 123–133, 2005.
- [211] T. H. Clarke, J. E. Garb, C. Y. Hayashi, P. Arensburger, and N. A. Ayoub, "Spider Transcriptomes Identify Ancient Large-Scale Gene Duplication Event Potentially Important in Silk Gland Evolution.," *Genome Biol. Evol.*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 1856–70, Jul. 2015.
- [212] C. Cantacessi, A. Hofmann, N. Young, U. Broder, R. Hall, A. Loukas, and R. Gasser, "Insights into SCP/TAPS Proteins of Liver Flukes Based on Large-Scale Bioinformatic Analyses of Sequence Datasets," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. e31164, 2012.
- [213] H. Hasegawa, B. Kalousova, M. R. McLennan, D. Modry, I. Profousova-Psenkova, K. A. Shutt-Phillips, A. Todd, M. A. Huffman, and K. J. Petrzelkova, "Strongyloides Infections of Humans and Great Apes in Dzanga-Sangha Protected Areas, Central African Republic and in Degraded Forest Fragments in Bulindi, Uganda," Parasitol. Int., 2016.
- [214] H. Sato, K. Suzuki, A. Osanai, H. Kamiya, and H. Furuoka, "Identification and Characterization of the Threadworm, *Strongyloides Procyonis*, From Feral Raccoons (Procyon Lotor) in Japan," *J. Parasitol.*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 63–68, 2006.

[215] K. Tamura, G. Stecher, D. Peterson, A. Filipski, and S. Kumar,

"MEGA6: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0," *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 2725–2729, 2013.

- [216] M. P. Hammond, R. D. Robinson, M. P. Hammond, and R. D. Robinson, "Chromosome Complement, Gametogenesis, and Development of *Strongyloides stercoralis* Author(s):," *J. Parasitol.*, vol. 80, no. 5, pp. 689–695, 1994.
- [217] J. B. Lok, "Strongyloides stercoralis: a model for translational research on parasitic nematode biology * Table of Contents," pp. 1–18, 2007.
- [218] E. Keddie, T. Higazi, and T. Unnasch, "The mitochondrial genome of Onchocerca volvulus: Sequence, structure and phylogenetic analysis," *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.*, vol. 95, pp. 111–127, 1998.
- [219] S. N. McNulty, A. S. Mullin, J. a Vaughan, V. V Tkach, G. J. Weil, and P. U. Fischer, "Comparing the mitochondrial genomes of Wolbachiadependent and independent filarial nematode species," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 145, 2012.
- [220] D. V. Lavrov and W. M. Brown, "Trichinella spiralis mtDNA: A nematode mitochondrial genome that encodes a putative ATP8 and normally structured tRNAs and has a gene arrangement relatable to those of coelomate metazoans," *Genetics*, vol. 157, no. 2, pp. 621–637, 2001.
- [221] D. Laslett and B. Canbäck, "ARWEN: A program to detect tRNA genes in metazoan mitochondrial nucleotide sequences," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 172–175, 2008.
- [222] W. S. Procunier and H. Hirai, "The chromosomes of *Onchocerca volvulus*," *Parasitol. Today*, vol. 2, no. 11, pp. 307–309, 1986.
- [223] M. S. Blouin, "Molecular prospecting for cryptic species of nematodes: mitochondrial DNA versus internal transcribed spacer," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 527–531, May 2002.
- [224] M. E. Viney, "Developmental switching in the parasitic nematode Strongyloides ratti," *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B*, vol. 263, pp. 201–208, 1996.

- [225] J. B. Lok, "*Strongyloides stercoralis*: a model for translational research on parasitic nematode biology.," *WormBook*, pp. 1–18, Jan. 2007.
- [226] R. M. Floyd, A. D. Rogers, P. J. D. Lambshead, and C. R. Smith, "Nematode-specific PCR primers for the 18S small subunit rRNA gene," *Mol. Ecol. Notes*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 611–612, Sep. 2005.
- [227] W. E. Mayer, M. Herrmann, and R. J. Sommer, "Phylogeny of the nematode genus Pristionchus and implications for biodiversity, biogeography and the evolution of hermaphroditism.," *BMC Evol. Biol.*, vol. 7, p. 104, 2007.
- [228] C. Trapnell, A. Roberts, L. Goff, G. Pertea, D. Kim, D. R. Kelley, H. Pimentel, S. L. Salzberg, J. L. Rinn, and L. Pachter, "Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNA-seq experiments with TopHat and Cufflinks.," *Nat. Protoc.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 562–78, 2012.
- [229] A. M. Bolger, M. Lohse, and B. Usadel, "Trimmomatic: a flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 30, no. 15, pp. 2114– 2120, Apr. 2014.
- [230] C. Trapnell, L. Pachter, and S. L. Salzberg, "TopHat: discovering splice junctions with {RNA}-Seq," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1105– 1111, Mar. 2009.
- [231] F. Sievers, A. Wilm, D. Dineen, T. J. Gibson, K. Karplus, W. Li, R. Lopez, H. McWilliam, M. Remmert, J. Soding, J. D. Thompson, and D. G. Higgins, "Fast scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega," *Mol. Syst. Biol.*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 539, Apr. 2014.
- [232] R. C. Edgar, "MUSCLE: a multiple sequence alignment method with reduced time and space complexity.," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 5, p. 113, 2004.
- [233] G. a Singer and D. a Hickey, "Nucleotide bias causes a genomewide bias in the amino acid composition of proteins.," *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 1581–8, 2000.

- [234] D. Darriba, G. L. Taboada, R. Doallo, and D. Posada, "{ProtTest} 3: fast selection of best-fit models of protein evolution," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1164–1165, Feb. 2011.
- [235] K. P. Schliep, "phangorn: phylogenetic analysis in R," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 592–593, Dec. 2010.
- [236] I. Letunic and P. Bork, "Interactive Tree Of Life v2: online annotation and display of phylogenetic trees made easy," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 39, no. suppl, pp. W475–W478, Apr. 2011.
- [237] Z. Yang, "{PAML} 4: Phylogenetic Analysis by Maximum Likelihood," Mol. Biol. Evol., vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1586–1591, Apr. 2007.
- [238] M. Hu, N. B. Chilton, and R. B. Gasser, "The mitochondrial genomes of the human hookworms, Ancylostoma duodenale and Necator americanus (Nematoda: Secernentea)," *Int. J. Parasitol.*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 145–158, 2002.
- [239] M. Hu and R. B. Gasser, "Mitochondrial genomes of parasitic nematodes--progress and perspectives.," *Trends Parasitol.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 78–84, 2006.

Appendix

1. Nuclear and mitochonderial PCR primers used in S. stercoralis genotyping

| Primer ID | Sequence (5'-3') |
|-------------------------|--|
| HVR-I_F (RH5401) | AAAGATTAAGCCATGCATG [7][226] |
| HVR-I_R (RH5402) | CATTCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCG [7][226] |
| HVR-IV_F (18SP4F) | GCGAAAGCATTTGCCAA [121] |
| HVR-IV_R (18SPCR) | ACGGGCGGTGTGTRC [121] |
| <i>cox</i> 1_F (TJ5207) | TTTGATTGTTACCTGCTTCTATTTT [This study] |
| <i>cox</i> 1_R (TJ5208) | TTTTACACCAGTAGGAACAGCAA [This study] |
| ytP274_F (TJ6026) | CAGGACCACCTGGACAAGTT [This study] |
| ytP274_R (TJ6027) | CTTTCCATCCTGATGCCACT [This study] |

2. S. stercoralis SSU HVR-IV sequence (AF279916)

3. S. stercoralis SSU HVR-I sequence (AF279916)

AAACCGCGGAAAGCTCATTATAACAGCTATAGACTACACGGTAAATATTT AGTTGGATAACTGAGGTAATTCTTGAGCTAATACACGCTATTTATACCAC ATTAGTGGTGCGTTTATTTGATTAAACCATTTTTATATTGGTTGACTCAAA ATATCCTCGCTGATTTTGTTACTAAAACATACCGTATGTGTATCTGGTTTA TCAACTTTCGATGGTAGGGTATTGGCCTACCATGGTTGTGACGGATAAC GGAGAATTAGGGTTCGACTCCGGAGAGGGAGCCTGAGAAACGGCTACC ACATCCAAGGAAGGCAGCAGGCGCGAAAATTACCCAATTTTAGTTAAAA GAGGTAGTGACGAAAAATGACAACCAAATATTATTATTAATATTTGGATTG AAAATCTTCAAGTTTAAAT

4. S. stercoralis cox1 sequence ((LC050212))

5. S. stercoralis ytP274 sequence (This study)

Lebenslauf/Curriculum vitae

Tegegn Gudeta Jaleta

Born on 30th November, 1984

Sire, Wollega, Oromia, Ethiopia

Education, qualifications and research experiences

| 2012-2016 | PhD in Biology |
|-----------|---|
| | Max Planck Institute for Developmental Biology, Tübingen, Germany |
| | Supervisor: Dr. Adrian Streit |
| | Thesis: Comparative transcriptomics and genetic analysis in parasitic nematodes |
| 2010-2012 | Master's in Molecular Genetics |
| | University of Debrecen, Debrecen, Hungary |
| | |
| 2008-2010 | Animal Health Researcher |
| | Oromia Agricultural Research Institute |
| | Bako Agricultural Research Center, |
| | Bako, Oromia, Ethiopia |

2002-2008

Doctor of Veterinary Medicine

School of Veterinary Medicine Jimma University, Jimma Ethiopia